University of Denver Digital Commons @ DU

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

2022

Education Finance as a Social Determinant of Health in the United States

Sydney Mock University of Denver

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.du.edu/etd



Recommended Citation

Mock, Sydney, "Education Finance as a Social Determinant of Health in the United States" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2140. https://digitalcommons.du.edu/etd/2140

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at Digital Commons @ DU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ DU. For more information, please contact jennifer.cox@du.edu,dig-commons@du.edu.

Education Finance as a Social Determinant of Health in the United States

Abstract

The purpose of this thesis is to investigate the role of K-12 education finance in the determination of health outcomes in the United States. To accomplish this, first, the differing theoretical perspectives surrounding health outcomes are explored. Second, theoretical literature surrounding public finance of education and cash vs in-kind benefits are explored to establish the grounds for connecting education finance and health. Third, a framework is presented to trace the pathways of how education finance determines health outcomes. Finally, the manuscript brings together a review of the literature on similar benefits and an evaluation of a voucher program in Cleveland, Ohio in order to compare voucher and traditional funding mechanisms in relation to the health pathway framework. Ultimately, this thesis concludes that education finance is a social determinant of health and voucher programs have not been shown to positively impact health outcomes when compared to traditionally funded public education.

Document Type

Thesis

Degree Name M.A.

Department Economics

First Advisor Yavuz Yasar

Second Advisor Lisa Martinez

Third Advisor Markus Schneider

Keywords Education finance, Health outcomes, Social determinants of health, Vouchers

Subject Categories Economics | Economic Theory

Publication Statement

Copyright is held by the author. User is responsible for all copyright compliance.

Education Finance as a Social Determinant of Health in the United States

A Thesis

Presented to

the Faculty of the College of Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences

University of Denver

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

by

Sydney Mock

August 2022

Advisor: Yavuz Yasar

Author: Sydney Mock Title: Education Finance as a Social Determinant of Health in the United States Advisor: Yavuz Yasar Degree Date: August 2022

Abstract

The purpose of this thesis is to investigate the role of K-12 education finance in the determination of health outcomes in the United States. To accomplish this, first, the differing theoretical perspectives surrounding health outcomes are explored. Second, theoretical literature surrounding public finance of education and cash vs in-kind benefits are explored to establish the grounds for connecting education finance and health. Third, a framework is presented to trace the pathways of how education finance determines health outcomes. Finally, the manuscript brings together a review of the literature on similar benefits and an evaluation of a voucher program in Cleveland, Ohio in order to compare voucher and traditional funding mechanisms in relation to the health pathway framework. Ultimately, this thesis concludes that education finance is a social determinant of health and voucher programs have not been shown to positively impact health outcomes when compared to traditionally funded public education.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my sincere thanks to Yavuz Yasar for guiding and supporting this work through the entire process. I also wish to thank each member of my defense committee. Thank you to Lisa Martinez for serving as my outside chair and for encouraging the use of interdisciplinary considerations in my work, Markus Schneider for serving as an idea sounding board and supporting my growth through the department, and Robert Urquhart who I could always count on for reassurance.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER ONE: PERSPECTIVES ON HEALTH OUTCOMES AND DETERMINANTS ()F
DEDEDECTIVES ON DETERMINIATION OF HEALTH: NEOCHASSICAL THEODY	3
PERSPECTIVES ON DETERMINATION OF HEALTH. NEOCLASSICAL THEORY	
EDUCATION	
CHAPTER 2 : EDUCATION FINANCE IN THE UNITED STATES	15
A BRIEF HISTORY OF PUBLIC EDUCATION FINANCE IN THE UNITED STATES	15
Cash vs In-Kind Benefits	27
EMPIRICAL CONSIDERATIONS: EDUCATION INEQUALITY IN THE UNITED STATES	
CHAPTER 3: HOW DOES FINANCING EDUCATION GET UNDER THE SKIN?	
Important Health Outcomes	
PATHWAYS	
TRADITIONAL VS VOUCHER FUNDING	
THE ROLES OF RACE, GENDER, AND CLASS	
CHAPTER 4: EMPIRICAL RESEARCH	51
EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE: LITERATURE REVIEW OF CASH VS IN-KIND BENEFITS	51
CASE STUDY: CLEVELAND SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM	60
IMPLICATIONS AND RELATION TO HEALTH OUTCOMES	75
CONCLUSION	
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	
LIMITATIONS	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

Introduction

Education, a human right, has long been considered as one of the social determinants of health. Education is critically important for human and economic development, as well as for well-functioning societies (WHO, 2011). While the role of education as a social determinant of health has been investigated rigorously, there is a lack of emphasis in the literature specifically looking at *education finance* as a social determinant of health. Financing and funding are critical components of producing quality education and, in return, positive health outcomes, thus considering specifically financing of education deepens our understandings of how education and health are intertwined.

The present study is also relevant for the ongoing current debate within the United States political system between advocates of 'school choice' and those who support the traditionally funded public education system. Advocates of school choice push for the privatization of education through programs like charter schools and voucher systems. Voucher systems, in most cases, use public funding to pay for students to attend private schools that otherwise could not, or provide tax breaks to those paying for their students' private education (Strauss, 2022). If education finance is an important determinant of health, then the impact on health outcomes needs to be considered in the debate of privatizing education in the United States.

1

To explore the relationship between education finance and health, one should identify specific pathways to health outcomes. Chapters one and two provide the foundations of identifying these pathways by presenting relevant theories of health, education, and public finance, as well as empirical evidence to see how those theories work in reality. Chapter three then identifies and presents specific pathways adapted from the World Health Organization's work on education as a social determinant of health. After identifying these pathways, a discussion of how voucher programs may change these pathways given the roles of class, race, and gender follows. Finally, the current study displays differences in health outcomes between the two types of education financing based on a review of the research on the topic with empirical evidence regarding benefit type and efficiency in addition to a review of the case of Cleveland Scholarship Program, a metropolitan voucher program in the United States.

This analysis allows the following research questions to be answered. How is education finance a social determinant of health? What are the pathways that allow education finance to impact health? Do voucher programs impact these pathways to health outcomes, and in what ways? What does the intersection of education finance and health say about the debate around spreading voucher programs in the United States?

2

Chapter One: Perspectives on Health Outcomes and Determinants of Health Perspectives on determination of health: Neoclassical Theory

The definition of health, and definitions of concepts in general, are dependent on the context in which they are being discussed. Context specific definitions allow for different perspectives and conclusions when discussing most, if not all, concepts, and health, and what determines health, are no exception. Health is generally defined as, "a state of physical, mental, and social well-being and the absence of disease or other abnormal conditions" (Santerre & Neun, 2010). However, when looked at through different theoretical lenses this definition tends to change. The definition of health in Neoclassical economic theory is rooted in the work of Michael Grossman, an American health economist. Grossman's 1972 publication, "On the Concept of Health Capital and Health Demand," laid the foundation for health, or rather 'good health' to be considered a commodity that is demanded, rather than a state of being, as it is generally defined.

Grossmans model of the demand for the commodity of good health, relies on how neoclassical economics defines the individual and the world the individual exists in. Within neoclassical theory, human beings are defined as rational individuals who are governed by seeking pleasures and avoiding pains¹.

¹ This concept stems from Jeremy Bentham's book, "An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation," that introduces the principle of 'utility'. Utility is defined by Bentham as, "that principle which approves or disproves of every action whatsoever, according to the tendency it appears to have to augment or diminish the happiness of the party whose interest is in question." (Bentham, 1789) In other words, utility (pleasure) and disutility (pain) are what control the actions and decisions of human beings as they are ration individuals seeking to maximize their pleasure and minimize their pain.

Grossman's model also relies upon another theoretical concept that is emphasized by neoclassical theory. Human capital is often generally defined as the skills and abilities of individuals or groups of individuals. Skills include things like how well one can produce some good, or how efficiently one can communicate what needs to be accomplished. Abilities may include whether someone is able-bodied or otherwise capable of performing the task at hand. Gary Becker (1962) contributed greatly to human capital theory and highlights that, investments can be made to increase one's individual human capital, or even human capital of groups. Such investments take the shape of any activity that serves to influence the future monetary or psychic earnings of the individual or group. The activities do this by increasing the resources available or within individuals or groups (Becker, 1962). A common example of investment in human capital is receiving education. Education can be considered a production process where time, materials (textbooks, notebooks, pens, etc.), classrooms and so on are considered inputs that shape students to produce graduates who go on to the workforce ready to sell their labor which includes the skill sets they have picked up from their education. Here it would be expected that someone who has had no education, or in other words, not invested in their human capital through education, would receive less income than someone who had invested this way.

Given this understanding of human-beings and human capital, Grossman, and thus neoclassical economics, define good health as a form of capital. As human beings are rational utility seeking individuals, it follows that they will make choices that positively impact their health capital, such as receiving medical care, eating healthy food, exercising, and living in a safe environment. Thus, Grossman's model implies that health is a function of rational choices and behaviors made by individuals. This is not the whole story, however, as Grossman argues that individuals inherit an initial amount of health when they are born, that he calls the initial stock of health. This stock of health is assumed to depreciate with age and at an increasing rate and is not necessarily the same for every individual. Grossman states that death occurs when one's health stock falls below a certain level, thus someone born in a first world country may have a higher initial health stock, than someone born in a third world country, and thus, even if their stocks depreciate at the exact same rate and they make the exact same choices, the one born in the third world country has a shorter life expectancy as their initial stock will run out first.

Determining the degree that someone makes health choices or not relies on how much value one puts on their life in the present versus their life in the future. For example, those who engage in unhealthy activities, such as smoking, would be considered people who put less value on their life in the future than in the present. The key idea in neoclassical theory here is that all of these factors are individual *choices*, the worker chooses what tools to use, just as one chooses how to treat their body, therefore impacting their health stock.

What drives the choices of good health in this model is what is referred to as the demand for good health. Grossman suggests that health is demanded for two different reasons. First, health is demanded for consumption purposes to gain utility, in other words that when one is healthy it is a source of utility, as opposed to when one is sick it is a source of disutility. Thus, we want to be healthy because it is a source of pleasure, while we do not want to be sick as it is a source of pain. Second, health is demanded for

investment purposes, meaning that as the number of healthy days go up one can work more and earn more income. If you are sick and cannot work you will not make money, so the return on investing in one's health is the time one is able to work, and thus compensated monetarily (Grossman, 1972).

Based on Grossman's model, and the understanding that good health is demanded because it produces utility and potential income, neoclassical economics illustrates how individual health is determined through the health production function. This function represents the maximum amount of health one can generate based on different factors over a given time. More specifically, in the short run, health (H) is a function of profile, meaning an individual's mental, social, and physical make up, the state of medical technology, environmental factors, socioeconomic status, lifestyle choices, and amount of medical care consumed. These inputs are ordered by the degree of choice the individual has over that input, from least choice to most choice. The focus of what determines health in neoclassical economics often emphasizes the latter inputs by treating them individual "choices" and responsibilities. This is a critical component of how health and its determinants are conceptualized in neoclassical theory. Lifestyle choices and consumption of medical care are often pointed to for why an individual is in the state of health they are. For example, if someone is overweight, one explanation for why may be that overweight person does not eat healthy and exercise enough. James W Henderson summaries this perspective well in his book, *Health Economics and Policy* stating,

[&]quot;Regardless of level of income and education, health status depends to a large degree on personal behavior...insufficient evidence prevents the determination of whether we are actually witnessing a link between socioeconomic status and health, lifestyle behavior and health, or possibly socioeconomic status and lifestyle behavior, or all three" (Henderson 2015, page 175).

Neoclassical theory fails to recognize or consider the importance of the social context that the individual exists within, which includes critical socioeconomic factors such as income, education, and environment.

Perspectives on the determination of health: Social Determinants of Health

In comparison with neoclassical theory, public health perspective provides different answers for the questions related to what health is and how the health of individuals is determined. Braveman and Woolf (2011) suggest that health is determined by biological, social, political, and economic conditions. The risk factors that are included in these different conditions are often categorized into two types of determinants referred to as 'upstream' and 'downstream' determinants. Upstream determinants consider the social conditions that individuals exist within and often have little to no control over. Examples of these upstream determinants are access to personal resources, such as how much income someone has or what type and quality of education they receive, as well as the social environment in which they live, work, study, and interact with others in. These upstream determinants are important for understanding what determines an individual's health as they create conditions or boundaries for a person's level of exposure to different risks and access to resources such as clean water, healthy foods, and medical care. Exposure to risk and access to and use of different resources are referred to as 'downstream' determinants due to the upstream factors often shaping what they look like. For example, if an individual makes a minimum wage their income may be relatively low and sets a budget constraint for what kind and how much food they can buy for themselves, thus their access to healthy foods is limited. Someone who makes over minimum wage will have less of a constraint and relatively greater access to healthy

foods even if they live in the exact same neighborhood as the first individual. As this example illustrates, when using a social determinants lens, the individual is considered in a social context, contrasting from the neoclassical view of an individual and what determines their health. Factors like gender, race and ethnicity, income, education level and access, and environmental conditions are considered as they impact the health of an individual. The connection between income and health can be considered as an example of one social determinant. Braveman and Woolf (2011, page 1853) found that "US adults living in poverty are more than five times as likely to report being in fair or poor health as adults with incomes at least four times the amount federal poverty level." This illustrates that health status improves with income and vice versa. While neoclassical theory would argue that both types of individuals, impoverished and not, will choose to consume the amount of health that is rational for each of them, a social determinants perspective argues that individuals do not have control over their health because they have structural constraints and limits place against them, in this case income level.

Armed with this understanding up and down stream determinants, we can zoom out and illustrate the broader context of a social determinants of health perspective. Ultimately, this perspective starts with the understanding that all individuals exist within the greater social context that encompasses different factors of the social system, including structure, culture and function. Within this context, individuals are organized into a sort of hierarchy based on socioeconomic factors. This is referred to as social stratification. Each individual has their place within the hierarchy, referred to as their social position. Social context, social stratification, and social position serve as the basis for the determination of health outcomes and disparities (Diderichsen et al. 2001). Factors like level of education, occupation and income are indicative of one's social position, while community (rural vs urban), work environment and social and economic policies are factors of social context. The distinction of social position and social context is helpful when considering upstream and downstream determinants of health, as upstream determinants are essentially synonymous with one's social context and while downstream determinants and one's social position compare similarly. The interactions of factors between and within social position and social context produce different health outcomes for different individuals. The relationship between social position and social context can be thought of as, "[s]ocial positions are derived from, or generated by a particular social context," (Diderichsen et al, 2001) indicating that there is a lack of individual control, as social context appears on a societal level, over the factors that influence an individual's health.

In addition to this basis, individuals have different experiences with how the pathways to health outcomes affect them. Two concepts, differential exposure and differential vulnerability (Diderichsen et al., 2001) can be considered to explain these different experiences. Differential exposure refers to fact that people encounter different health risks as a result of their social position within the social stratification. One's social class, race/ethnicity, and/or gender, will cause one to be exposed to different risks. For example, someone living in a wealthy neighborhood will likely have less exposure to environmental risks, like pollution and crime, than someone living in a poor neighborhood. Differential vulnerability refers to the fact that if two people in different social positions on the social hierarchy ladder are exposed to the same health risk, their

vulnerability to the risk would still be different, likely that the person lower on the ladder would be impacted more.

Individuals also have different experiences when it comes to how ill health impacts their lives. This is referred to as differential consequences of ill health (Diderichsen et al. 2001). If one gets into an accident or develops a chronic disease, their social position within the social stratification and social context matters for how it is going to impact them. For example, if one person gets sick and uses all of their paid time off of work but still is too sick to go back to work, they go without pay. Someone with a high socioeconomic status will be less affected by this loss of pay than someone with a low socioeconomic status. As this illustrates, wealthier individuals will be better off when dealing with the consequences of negative health, while less wealthy and poor individuals will be worse off.

Education²

Education is a key component of social determinants of health and the WHO recognized its importance and identified pathways of how education impacts health and vice versa, in the publication, *Education: Shared Interests in Well-Being and Development (WHO, 2011)*. While this thesis focuses on the United States in particular, the publication takes a global perspective. The publication provides key insight that can be adapted to a United States context, and therefore the discrepancy between global and national does not provide a conflict of interest.

² We will be primarily concerned with public education here and in the rest of the thesis.

It is critical to put education and health outcomes in conversation with each other because they have a mutually reinforcing relationship. Unhealthy learners are associated with low educational attainment, and low educational attainment with negative health outcomes. However, the pathways that create these associations are far more complex than this simple feedback loop. To understand these pathways, the question must be asked, "How does education affect health status?".

Depending on the framework this question is posed under, different conclusions can be drawn. Looking at the question under a social determinants of health perspective, where what matters is society and the hierarchy within society will produce very different answers than looking at the question under a neoclassical economic perspective where the individuals' preferences and the place of education within the health production function matter.

Starting with the social determinants of health perspective the connection between education and health ultimately relies upon a person's social position. For example, public education is governed by local, state, and federal level policies in the U.S.A. It is compulsory for children but up to what age varies by state, ranging from 14 to 18 years old. Although public education kindergarten through 12th grade is free, the major source of public education financing relies on local property taxes. As a result, the way public education is financed in the U.S.A. plays a potential role the relationship between health and education. For example, locations with less property tax revenues (e.g., rural settings and poor neighborhoods of metropolitan areas) would have less resources to finance public education. This, in turn, would exacerbate those children and their families' place

in the social hierarchy ladder by diminishing potential positive impact of education on health.

As a result, for example, individuals with the same years of public education may be exposed to different health risks and/or even if they are exposed to the same risks their vulnerability may differ. In other words, it is not only the length of years of public education but also its quality would matter in terms of its relationship with health. School resources determine the degree of teacher stress, levels of childhood nutrition and the availability of health intervention tools for students. The degree of teacher stress is a key factor in the quality of education provided which impacts one's years of education. When schools are able to provide healthy meals to students, their nutrition levels benefit. And when schools are given the resources to provide health interventions such as eye and hearing tests, students can be given the help they need, eliminating obstacles of them pursuing more education, as well as possibly preventing chronic disease (WHO, 2011).

A large body of empirical work documents the connection between health and education in a variety of ways. One example is empirical work that looks at the relationship between life expectancy and years of education. Lleras-Muney (2005) finds that there is a large positive correlation between education and health, specifically that education attainment has a casual impact on mortality rates. Here, a social determinants of health perspective would explain this by pointing to school quality factors that allow and support students to continue their education.

In general, more years of education are associated with increased productive activity and therefore economic stability, which increases life expectancy, improves quality of life, and decreases stress. For women, improved access to education is associated with a decrease in rates of infant mortality (WHO, 2011). key factor in this is the increase in productive activity. This means that people who have more years of education not only contribute more productively but often have the ability to choose jobs that are less dangerous, architect instead of construction worker for example, which decreases their risk of injury and chronic disease.

According to neoclassical perspective, the same question, "How does education affect health status?" is answered by considering the health production function. The health production function explains how much health a person can produce given a set of inputs over a given period. Through this, health is a function of medica care, technology, profile, lifestyle, socioeconomic status, and environment. Education fits under the socioeconomic status variable in this function (Santerre & Neun, 2010). Education therefore is connected to health through its ability to impact a person's socioeconomic status, for example, learning the skills required for high paying jobs in school would help someone increase their socioeconomic status. Under this neoclassical perspective, individuals have the ability to make different choices to change the inputs of the function. An example of this would be that if someone was going to a school where they were not learning the skills required for a high paying job, they could simply choose to go somewhere else. Ultimately, the individual is responsible for their health as they make the choice that impacts it, including choosing their education.

However, the K-12 education system in the United States is not a system of choice for most people, it is determined by the residence of an individual and resources available in that locality (e.g., property taxes). From the social determinants of health perspective, this would create the social context in which education takes place and play a role in terms of health. Neoclassical theory takes these circumstances as given (e.g., existing endowments). As pointed out above, this residence-based education system relies on funding from property taxes. Thus, schools and their districts will reflect the socioeconomic status in which they reside. Children living in low-income areas will have the 'choice' to go to low-income schools as children in high-income areas will have the 'choice' to go to high income schools.

This consideration of how the K-12 education system in the United States is funded and its impact on the health of children raises the question of if a different way of financing education can change the health outcome predictions given by a social determinants of health perspective.

Chapter 2: Education Finance in the United States

A Brief History of Public Education Finance in the United States

Public education has served multiple roles throughout the history of the United States. Before what would be referred to as public schooling, education opportunities were limited for many children. Children were excluded from traditional education for a variety of factors including, but not limited to, race, income, gender, and where they lived geographically. The general demographic makeup of the children who did receive education were wealthy white children. For these children schooling did not look as uniform as it tends to be today. There was wide variability in where/how schooling occurred. There were church supported schools, schools organized by groups of parents or by the town, charity schools for poor children, boarding schools, private tutoring and home schooling, tuition-based schools organized by traveling schoolmasters, 'Dame schools' run by women out of their homes, and work apprenticeships that touched on subjects like reading, writing and arithmetic. To summarize, the formal organized schooling system that we see today did not exist, and access to elementary education varied greatly depending on a child's place in society.

The lack of a formal system for funding education led to great variation in how these schools were financed. Depending on the school, it may have been reliant on tuition payments from parents, charitable contributions, property taxes (similar to how the current system is funded), fuel contributions, and possibly state support. Around the 1780s some towns in the Northeast organized systems that allowed local schools to be tuition free, funded by the town residents, however this was far from the norm at the time. The picture looked much different outside of the Northeast. Schooling in the South mainly consisted of tuition based and/or parent organized schools. Outside of cities in the rural South, if there was a school at all, it was often difficult to get to, lacked resources, and was overcrowded. No state in the South where education was compulsory or completely supported by taxes (Kober, 2020).

After the American Revolution, early leaders of the nation understood that American democracy was dependent on the competency of its citizens. To ensure an educated population, schooling needed to take a more systemic approach. Thomas Jefferson, John Adams, and other early leaders encouraged and proposed a uniform and formal system for publicly funded schooling. Northeastern communities had already adopted and established small scale versions of this by the late 1780s, however expansion of the concept of free public education lagged some 50 years after.

While the brunt of the responsibly of schooling fell on local and state governments, the federal government supported the efforts to create a formal and organized system by passing ordinances in 1785 and 1787 that gave federal land to new states entering the union with the agreement that states would set aside some of the land specifically for schools.

The concept of 'common schools' emerged in the 1830s when Horace Mann, at the time Massachusetts's secretary of education, and others advocated that all children should be able to receive a state funded education, free of charge. This concept rested on the external benefits to the nation; public investment in education would lead to more literal, moral and most of all productive citizens. Key to this proposition was the education of poor and middle-class children. Free public education would help them find good jobs, strengthening the economic position of the nation. Universal education was seen as a way to eliminate poverty (as the narrative of the American Dream expresses), as well as crime and other social problems. Advocates argued that the cost of educating children would be substantially less than the cost of dealing with criminals, highlighting the role that education serves in a capitalist society (Kober, 2020).

The spread of public schools looked different across the nation. Public schools were more likely to be found in cities than in rural areas and much more common in the Northeast than other parts of the country. Access to these schools took longer to obtain for students of color, girls, and children with disabilities or special needs than their counterparts – white boys. Between 1830 and 1870 enrollment in public elementary schools for children between the ages of 5 and 14 increased by 23%, where in 1870 about 78% of children were enrolled (Neem, 2018). By 1880, about 10 million pupils were enrolled in public elementary and secondary schools. During the hundred years that followed, enrollment grew to 41.5 million, most rapidly increasing from 1910 to 1930 (England, 1985).

It is important to note that the spread of high school attendance and completion lagged the spread of public elementary schooling. High school completion rates in the early 1900s hovered just under 15%. This rate grew slowly throughout the century, reaching 55% in 1970. Within the last decade (2010-2020) rates have increased to 90% (Kober, 2020).

With this rapid growth in enrollment came changes in how public schooling is financed. The federal government played essentially no role in funding public schools before WWII, making up about less than 2% of public elementary and secondary school funding. This figure increased to about 10% but the 1970s. State governments played a bigger role in funding public education, however over the course of the 20th century, funding amounts fluctuated, covering less than 20% of costs at the minimum and just above 45% at the maximum (England, 1985).

These funding changes illustrate a shift away from complete reliance on local property taxation and other forms of local funding, toward greater state and federal government support. State and federal funding relies on more centralized forms of taxation such as income and sales tax, rather than property tax.

Understanding the history of public education and public education finance provides the tools needed to explore microeconomic theory and public finance literature as it relates to education.

Education as a Public Good with Positive Externalities

To analyze the education system from an economic perspective one must first understand the concept of public good. For a good to be considered a public good two criteria need to be met. By definition, a pure public good is a good that is neither rival nor excludable. A good is considered rival when one's consumption or use of the good impacts other's opportunity to consume the good. For example, if I buy pizza for lunch and eat it, in no way can you consume that pizza. A good is considered excludable when one's consumption or use of the good can be denied. For this example, the pizza place could have simply denied selling me pizza since I do not have enough money to purchase and thus pizza is excludable. Because pizza is rival and excludable it is a private good. An example of a pure public good is a streetlight. My consumption of the light provided by a streetlight does not impact your ability to consume the same thing, and I cannot be excluded from using the light provided by it. Because a streetlight is a pure public good, a nation's government has incentive to provide streetlights.

Education does not meet these criteria to be considered a pure public good. Education is a rival good when it can be privately purchased or not financed by public resources, meaning that my purchase of a seat at a private school, takes away your opportunity to purchase that same seat. If education is strictly not a pure public good, why is it treated like one? The justification for public involvement in K-12 education can be explained by the idea that there are positive externalities to both civic and economic sectors that public education provides that justify government involvement (Ulbrich, 2011).

Another way of looking at why education is treated as a public good is to look at an alternative definition of public goods. A different perspective of public goods is that they are goods usually produced by the public sector to meet identified societal needs by collective choice and shared costs (Sekera, 2019). Under this perspective, there is no need to justify government provision of education as it meets the criteria to be a public good. But being designated "to meet identified societal needs" and being "produced by collective choice and shared costs" would be sufficient to identify public goods. However, even under the previous definition, government intervention still has grounds to stand upon.

19

There are numerous benefits of government involvement in the provisions of education that can be identified. One benefit of this is an educated public. A democratic society can only function if the population within it is educated on their civic duties, is able to locate, absorb and interpret information, understands how the political process works and knows how to participate in civic affairs. What comes out of this educated population is a benefit to everyone as the government is more responsive and held accountable on all levels (Ulbrich, 2011). Another benefit that comes out of an educated public are informed citizens, specifically through learning to be literate. Literacy is an important part of informed voting; thus, the public sector has a stake in educating its population for the sake of the democratic process. Education also may make citizens more informed about the voting process and thus more active voters. The societal benefit that stems from this is an improved quality of the democratic process as more people participate. Another benefit of an educated population is increase in productivity. When populations are more educated, their productive capacities increase as a result of high specialization of workers and knowledge spillovers from educated coworkers. Higher educated people often receive higher wages and thus pay more taxes, resulting in greater amounts of tax collection that governments and societies can benefit from in terms of increases to the standard of living (Gruber, 2016).

Increasing productivity is not only a benefit to society but also a benefit to the marketplace. There are several other benefits to the marketplace that come out of having an educated public. With technological advancement in the economy comes an increase in the basic skills needed for entry level jobs. Deeper levels of skills like reading, math, writing, and analysis become needed at every level of the job market, and thus public

education is critical in ensuring a job force that is equipped with the skills needed for jobs.

It is not only important to have educated workers, but also educated consumers. Informed consumers are the backbone of mainstream economic theory, as it is assumed that information is available and utilized. Consumers are thought to be rational in their actions and expectations and thus mold the marketplace to ensure good matches between consumers and their products, and workers and their employers. To achieve these processes, individuals must have access to the information that allows them to be rational consumers, thus needing some form of formal education (Ulbrich, 2011).

While government intervention in K-12 education is mostly justified through the outcome of an educated population, there are other benefits that arise outside of this theme. Redistribution as a result of education is an example of this. If education functioned like a normal good, for which demand rises with income, higher income families would have a higher demand for education and thus provide more education for their children than low-income families could. This would limit income mobility as the children of higher income families would likely to stay high income, and low-income children low income because higher education is often associated with higher incomes. High income mobility is generally a goal of most democratic societies thus governments have the incentive to provide public education to avoid limiting income mobility (Gruber, 2016). Another benefit outside of an educated public is exposure to diversity is an important benefit that comes out of public education as it can lead to the recognition and acceptance of differences between people in terms of values, cultures, attitudes, and practices. Exposure to diversity within public school systems from a young

age can contribute significantly to understanding and accepting diversity consequently reducing social tensions and conflicts (Ulbrich, 2011).

All these benefits in discussion are what we consider positive externalities of education. A positive externality occurs when the production or consumption of a good or service benefits a party or parties outside of the market transaction. The benefits of K-12 education that have been identified fall into this category as the public benefits collectively from each member being educated.

While public goods with positive externalities produce benefits to society, markets fail in providing such goods with externalities according to neoclassical thought that considers only private goods with no externalities (positive or negative) for markets to work efficiently. According to this theory, if resources (including goods but not public goods, only private ones with no externality) are allocated efficiently among the members of the society, then it would be impossible to make one person better off without making another worse off. This is also known as the Pareto optimality condition which cannot work if public goods and/or externalities exist. When externalities and public goods are present, as they are in reality, a Pareto efficient allocation is not guaranteed (Varian, 2014). The presence of both results in market failure and inefficient results because the price and benefits are not individualized. Instead, they are paid and received by others in society. Public education as a public good with positive externalities in the United States, therefore, is an example of a market failure under this definition since private markets fail to provide such goods whose price and benefits cannot be individualized. In the case of market failures, involvement of social and legal institutions to replicate

market forces may be justified for the purpose of achieving Pareto efficiency (Varian, 2014).

It is important to note that t externalities are defined from an individualistic perspective according to neoclassical thought and this is criticized by non-mainstream approaches in economics. The following quotation reveals the fundamental logical flaw in defining externalities from an individualistic perspective without considering society at all in neoclassical theory: "Unless people in modern societies are completely homogenous self-serving robots responding only to price and cost, practically any deviant social behavior results in an externality" (D'Arge & Hunt, 1971, page 275). The interconnectedness of society through externalities, which may arise in all cases of production and consumption, is ignored by the narrow interpretation of externalities in neoclassical thought. Consideration of this interconnectedness may result in a very different conclusion about how market failures resulting from externalities should be dealt with.

The understanding of this problem of a market failure and the appropriate solution varies vastly between neoclassical thought and public finance literature. For example, regarding the financing of education, some in the neoclassical public finance literature recognize that there is a credit market failure when it comes to education in the United States and this failure also justifies why government is involved in provision and financing of (public) education (Gruber, 2016). While the United States government does play this role in the case of higher education, providing student loans to finance college, at the elementary and secondary levels the government only provides a fixed level of publicly funded education, leaving potential productivity gains on the table. Governments are hesitant to provide loans for elementary and secondary education as parents may fail to choose the appropriate levels of education for their children. Even if private education were funded through government loans, some costs would still fall on parents, whether that be interest payments or covering the costs not covered by the loans. In this case parents may value their own consumption over their children's education, thus harming children by denying them the opportunity to receive the appropriate level and quality of education. Because of this possibility, the public provision of education is a better alternative (Gruber, 2016).

On the other hand, some neoclassical economists consider privatization as the solutio rather than government involvement, for market failure in case of (public) education. Followers of this thought believe that privatization of education may enhance efficiency for several reasons (Greene et al, 1999). The first is that privatization leads to competition among providers (schools) which may reduce costs and improve the quality of services. The second is that if consumers have the opportunity to choose from an array of options, their service may more closely match that of their preferences. Lastly, private producers may be able to take input from the consumer in the coproduction of services, thus increasing the quality and effectiveness of such a service. Based on these outcomes of privatization, neoclassical economists advocate for school choice, so that school systems function like a market and, therefore, become more efficient (Greene et al, 1999). This notion of school systems becoming more efficient rests on the idea that cash transfers (such as vouchers), are always superior to in-kind benefits (food stamps, Medicaid etc.) in terms of market outcomes (Thurow, 1974).

A voucher program with the goal to privatize education was first proposed by Friedman (1955) who argued that the gradual development of the education system allowed for the government to provide 'special treatment' to the industry of education. The special treatment referred to is that governmental bodies paid for and administered most education in the country. Friedman (1955, page 1) argued that this degree of government intervention was an "indiscriminate extension of governmental responsibility," or in other word that there was too much government involvement in education. This conclusion of Friedman's rests his idea that society's ultimate goal should be the freedom of individual and families realized by voluntary exchange between individuals. Freidman refers to this goal of the economic structure of society as a free private enterprise exchange economy, an economy where the government's role is to enforce the rules of the game using tools like contracts, prevent coercion, and to keep markets free. According to this thought, the only other times the government should intervene are in the cases of natural monopolies, extensive 'neighborhood effects,' and paternalistic concern for children and irresponsible individuals (Friedman, 1955). Natural monopolies make effective competition, what voluntary exchange relies upon, impossible and therefore the government has the responsibility to step in and protect the market. Neighborhood effects refer to the actions of an individual imposing costs or benefits on other individuals that the first individual cannot compensate, or vice versa. In the case of education, the neighborhood effects that Friedman describes mirror the positive externalities of literacy and public knowledge previously discussed. Thus, Friedman agrees that government intervention is justified in education, but only to establish a mandate for parents to provide a basic education for their kids that creates such effects.

Further government involvement in the provision of education only hurts the efficiency of the education market. The paternalistic concern is taking care of through referring to family units, rather than individual, however Freidman points out that no satisfactory answer can be given in this case as the line is blurry between action motivated by paternalistic concern and action that conflicts with freedom.

The grounds for government involvement in general education rest on a widespread acceptance of common values and minimum levels of literacy and knowledge. Because these factors result from education, and the benefits of educating a child are not limited to the child and parents themselves but rather to all other member of society, as educated citizens increase welfare overall by contributing to a stable democratic society, there are extensive 'neighborhood effects' associated, thus warranting government intervention. Education that trains kids for citizenship and leadership justify government subsidy, while education that is purely vocational does not. 'Neighborhood effects' do not justify government administration of education, only government enforcement of minimum education requirements and the financing of such. Here Freidman introduces the voucher, sums of money subsidized by the government, given to parent's to be spent on approved educational expenses. This effectively limits the role of the government to keeping schools in check with regards to minimum standards. Friedman refers to this as the 'denationalization' of education.

The denationalization of education would provide parents with a wider range of choice of where to educate their children, provide parents with a sort of bargaining power in that if they are unimpressed with a school, they can withdrawal their child and send them somewhere else, potentially reduce residence and class-based stratification, and promote a healthy variety of schools working to increase competition. The result of these measures would not only decrease the direct activities of the government but widen the educational opportunities available to children. This would allow education to function within the private enterprise exchange economy which would speed up progress in the field as, Friedman says, it has done with so many other industries (Friedman, 1955).

Friedman's proposition of a voucher system rest entirely on a neoclassical view of efficiency and externalities. However, "If...the market and its many attendant economic, social and political institutions influence the entire fabric of our society, then the traditional handling of externalities in economics is completely inadequate" (D'Arge & Hunt, 1971, page 273). This quote illustrates the lack of consideration of context in neoclassical thought, as seen with the determination of health in the previous chapter. This failure of consideration opens the debate for if the privatization of education through a voucher system (cash transfers of benefits) or any neoclassical solution to market failures would actually provide the most efficient outcomes, even without a consideration of equity.

Cash vs In-Kind Benefits

Reinhardt (2001) provides the inspiration for why a discussion of benefit types is relevant for a thesis on education finance. Reinhardt's work, motivated by the work of Arrow (1963), which illustrates that the medical-care industry operates and the way it serves the needs of society are different than that of the typical way industries function. Thus, the welfare theorem that is the only solution to the efficiency-equity dilemma in neoclassical economics does not explain how provision and financing of medical care in the United States should work. The first theorem of optimality states that if there is a competitive equilibrium and if all commodities, that matter to the utilities and dis-utilities of participates, are priced in the market, then the equilibrium is necessarily optimal or, in other words, that there is no other allocation of resources and services that will make everyone better off. The second theorem of optimality states that if there are no increasing returns to production and if 'certain other minor conditions are satisfied' then every optimal state is a competitive equilibrium that results from some initial distribution of purchasing power (Arrow 1963).

The works of Reinhardt and Arrow point to a division of opinion within the neoclassical school of those who rely strictly on the welfare theorem and thus push the use of cash benefits and those who understand the limitations of the welfare theorem and see a role for benefits in-kind. Like healthcare, education operates in a way different from the typical industry and thus is subject to Reinhardt's concerns about the use of welfare theorem in informing policy decisions about whether to provide benefits in cash as strict welfare followers would prefer or in-kind as those who understand the limitations would favor. Both parties believe that movement of society from an initial efficient point to an also efficient, publicly desired, new point is possible. However strict followers, like Friedman, believe that it is only possible through using cash transfers as they cannot distort economic behavior since they are not related to any behavioral factor, while there is disagreement from the other party that says the movement can occur through in-kind transfers of benefits. Friedman's argument for the use of vouchers in education rests on this idea that benefits can only be transfer in cash to reach the publicly desired optimal states.

28

Those who disagree point to the limitations of the welfare theorem. Thurow (1974) highlights the fact that theorem relies on the fact that individual utility functions are separate from each other. However, Thurow (974) argues that the only way both parties can be left better off is if the taxpayers utility function relies to some degree on the welfare recipients' utility function. For example, if taxes are collected from the wealthy that pay for the education of the poor, then crime rates may decrease in that area as a result of the poor having the education to pursue careers outside of crime. The welfare recipient's utility is maximized through an unrestricted cash transfer as they now have the cash, and they want to pursue what they need as a rational consumer. The taxpayer's utility is only maximized if the utility of the welfare recipient appears in their utility function - i.e., as the welfare recipient's utility is maximized, they turn away from a life of crime, crime rates drop, and the taxpayer's utility is maximized. The taxpayer's action to maximize their own utility is dependent on the elasticity of price and the elasticity of income. Transferring cash functions as an income effect, increasing the welfare recipient's income, and hoping that the welfare recipient's income elasticity of demand for education functions in a way that has them spend their cash on education. The use of a restricted grant functions as both an income and substitution effect, only allowing the welfare recipient to purchase education with the funds, meaning that the budget line changes slope, changing relative prices and price elasticity of demand. Because operating under price elasticity of demand is always cheaper than operating under income elasticity of demand, restricted transfers (grants) will always dominate unrestricted transfers in the case where utility is coming from a particular good (or service in the example case of education). Here Thurow points out the issue with the

Pareto Optimal approach where the rational taxpayer should only be concerned with the utility of the welfare recipient and specifying what the welfare recipient should use their transfer on is inherently irrational. Thus, the argument for restricted transfers for specific goods does not explain the actual behavior of rational consumers. To explain actual behaviors, Thurow discusses his take on the social welfare function. From an individualistic stance, the social welfare function will always lead to cash transfers as it deals with individual utilities. Thurow then points out that the individualistic social welfare function leaves out anything about individuals having different levels of preferences, and that there is a distinction between individual preferences forming a social welfare function and making social welfare a function of individual utilities. Thurow suggests that individual preferences can be categorized in two ways: individualsocietal preferences, which encapsule the rules of the economic game and distribution of prizes; and private-personal preferences, which take into account the maximization of personal utility given the current economic game. Thurow explains this by stating that, "[t]here is nothing self-contradictory...in seeking to become extremely wealthy and powerful in our current economic game yet believing that a better economic game would be one where there were no 'extremely wealthy' prizes to be had" (Thurow, 1974, page 192). Under the individual- societal preferences fall things like the rights of man for which Thurow gives examples like the right to life and the right to vote. If man has the right to life, then the distribution of medical care should fall into the individual-societal preference category, something that economists thinking strictly about private personal utility would deny. From this, one would conclude that the right to education could follow the same lines. Some level of education is included in the rights of man, not
because it maximizes private personal utility but because it maximizes both the utility of the taxpayer and welfare recipient, as previously described. This implies that there are some types of goods and services that fall under the rights of man that need to be provided in the form of restricted transfers as to maximize everyone's utility.

The implications of the debate around benefits type reveal that a Pareto Optimal approach contradicts itself in saying that cash transfers (vouchers) are always the right (more efficient) approach to maximizing the utility of all parties. Examining the social welfare functions for certain goods, health and education, justifies restricted transfer to ensure that the utilities of all parties are maximized. Therefore, the voucher argument to provide choice in education contradicts itself.

Empirical Considerations: Education Inequality in the United States

There is an extensive body of literature dedicated to studying inequalities within and as a result of the education system in the United States. This section is meant to sample some of those works and demonstrate the inequalities that arise in terms of class, race, and gender.

O'Flaherty (2015, page 169) states that

"[e]ducation is valuable...holding income constant, people with more education are healthier, live longer, and may live better...educated people invent more, commit less crime, participate in civic affairs more and bring more to those affairs, and help educate children around them"

If education provides these societal benefits and is considered the great equalizer, then we should see a system that values equal opportunity to education for all people. O'Flaherty quickly displays that this is not the case within the United States education system by highlighting disparities in educational attainment and educational achievement by race. Taken from O'Flaherty's chapter, *Figure 1* presents level of education by race in the United States. While 39.2 percent of White Americans completed a bachelor's degree or more, only 19.6 percent of Black Americans and 12.8 percent of Hispanic Americans did. *Figure 1* also displays that only 5.6 percent of White American's did not complete high school, while the rate for Black Americans is more than twice that of whites and the rate for Hispanics Americans is about 5 times that of whites. This disparity in educational achievement by race shows that the education system favors white people.

O'Flaherty's work is supported by an extensive body of literature. Significant differences in academic achievement exist between races, with white students performing better than their non-white peers. There is no single cause for these disparities, but no concrete evidence has been presented that characteristic associated with one's race impact cognitive abilities. Instead, environmental factors within schools, academic structures, and home lives, can explain some of the racial disparities that exist nationwide across the education system. The literature also shows similar disparities across genders that can be explained by the same factors noted earlier. (Bainbridge & Lasley II, 2002)

A 2010 article published in *Economics of Education Review*, entitled, "Education and the reproduction of economic inequality in the United States: an empirical investigation," investigates the relationship between family background and college completion and adult earnings, using data from the National Education Longitudinal Study. While this study focuses on college completion, it informs this discussion on inequality in K-12 education by illustrating what groups are more likely to attend college, thus what groups likely performed relativity better in K-12 schooling. Using econometric modeling, this study confirmed what virtually all other studies examining social class

	Less than high school diploma	Bachelor's degree or more	
Non-Hispanic white	5.6	39.2	
Male	6.6	35.5	
Female	4.5	43.0	
Black	12.3	19.6	
Male	12.5	16.1	
Female	12.3	22.9	
Asian	4.7	56.1	
Male	6.6	51.3	
Female	3.3	60.7	
Hispanic	28.5	12.8	
Male	30.8	9.6	
Female	25.7	16.8	

Table 7.1.	Educational attainment of 25–29-year-olds, March 2011, civi	lian
	noninstitutionalized population (percent).	

Source: U.S. Census Bureau (2012a).

Figure 1:O'Flahrety (2015)

background and adult outcomes show; that social class background predicts adult outcomes. (Rumberger, 2010) With the assumption that this outcome explains who performs better in K-12, the conclusion can be drawn that the education system in the United States fosters an environment that is not one of equal opportunity, as Verstegen illustrated, but rather an environment that allows children from relativity wealthy families to prosper while children from relatively poor families are left behind. If the education system did foster an equal opportunity environment the results should show less disparity in college completion. It is important to note here that the cost of college may play a significant role in these disparities even if K-12 environments are equal, however based on the 1988 start date if the longitudinal study this factor likely does not explain a significant amount of the connection between family social class and adult outcomes as college costs were relatively low compared to current times.

To provide evidence of inequalities across gender in the United States, Long & Conger conducted an analysis of the degree of gender sorting across public and private school systems. The study relied on data from the Common Core of Data Public Elementary/ Secondary School Universe Survey, the Private School Universe Survey, and the Parent and Family Involvement in Education section of the National Household Education Survey. All data from these studies were from 2007-2008. Data included enrollment counts by grade and gender and parents' preferences when choosing schools. The goal of the study was to identify the amount of gender sorting that can be explained by non-random forces. To do this, Long & Conger found the standard deviation in male share of enrollment if students were randomly assigned to their schools by randomly allocated students to schools over 100 Monte Carlo simulations. Using the mean standard deviation as a comparison tool, Long & Conger then computed 'residual sorting' but taking the difference between the true standard deviation and the mean standard deviation. This was conducted for each county in the United States, producing the actual level of gender sorting, the amount of gender sorting that would happen if the students were randomly assigned and the difference between the two. Results of this analysis demonstrated that the standard deviations for the actual distribution was greater than the standard deviation for the random distribution across all 100 trials and that nonrandom gender sorting is statistically significant for all grades at all conventional levels of significance (p=0%). In other words, the results showed that gender sorting across schools can be explained by non-random factors. When examining the role of school type results found that irregular public schools, schools dedicated to special education vocational, or other/alternative schools, tend to enroll the highest percentage of males, where private schools tend to enroll the lowest. Furthermore, the results of the study also showed that there are higher levels of gender sorting across counties that have more extensive school-choice options, especially in counties that have more private schools and irregular public schools. While this study and results do not address inequalities across academic achievement and outcomes, the results still provide critical information for the discussion of inequalities within and across schools. Long & Conger displays that there may be systemic explanations for gender inequalities in schools in the United States, as gender sorting cannot simply be explained by random chance. (Long and Conger, 2013)

With these example of education inequalities in mind, the next chapter will develop the connection between K-12 education in the United States, specifically

differences in funding between traditional public schools and voucher programs and health outcomes later in life.

Chapter 3: How Does Financing Education Get Under the Skin?

Up to this point we have explored the big picture framework within which health outcomes and education connect. Given this complex and board connection between health outcomes and education, I would like to understand better the role of financing education, specifically the role of cash vs in-kind benefits within the voucher debate. The remainder of this manuscript focuses specifically on this small piece of the big picture.

To understand the extent of which education financing impacts health outcomes, specific pathways that explain the connection between the two need to be identified. While the World Health Organization has identified pathways on how education impacts health outcomes broadly, explicit discussion about financing is lacking (WHO, 2011). This chapter works to provide specific discussion about the intersection of education financing and health outcomes by providing specific pathways, adapted from the work of the World Health Organization, that trace the impact of education funding on health outcomes in the United States.

Important Health Outcomes

For the purposes of understanding the intersection of education financing and specific health outcomes need to be identified that matter in the context. The health outcomes identified have been adapted from the 2011 World Health Organization report, entitled "*Education: shared interests in well-being and development*." The relevant health

outcomes in the context of education financing are life expectancy, child mortality, abuse, stress, injury, chronic disease, and quality of life. Broadly, these outcomes can be classified in three categories: (1) physical health outcomes, (2) mental health outcomes and (3) both physical and mental health outcomes. It is important to note that the connection between physical health and mental health is extensive and difficult to disentangle. These categories are meant to simplify the pathway analysis rather than distinguish between what is strictly physical and what is strictly mental. Recognizing these outcomes provides a basis to trace the pathways through which education financing impacts each.

Pathways

The broad framework for identifying the pathways between education financing and health outcomes rests on the question: "How does education determine health outcomes?". Ultimately, two main pathways work to determine the health outcomes previously identified, school facility and location and school resources. School facility and location take into account factors like building safety and age, commuting distance of students, and physical environment factors – probability of severe storm, fire, etc. School resources account for factors like quality of food, health intervention tools, access to the proper education materials, class size, and before and after school care/programing. Both of these pathways have a crucial factor in common, they are reliant on school funding. Better funded schools may be able to update their building, eliminate transportation barriers, have resources, and plans for severe weather, provide healthy meals, health screenings, up to date materials, hire and retain more teachers, and have extracurricular



Figure 2; Education Finance Health Pathways

programing. Relatively low funded schools may not be able to provide these services. Here it is important to discuss that because of the nature of how funding impacts these pathways, and then the pathways impact health outcomes, the connection between education financing and health outcomes is an indirect one. Understanding that this connection is indirect emphasizes the need to specifically trace through the impact of financing for each outcome.

Starting with the pathway school facility and location, the key factors that have the potential to impact health are risk of abuse, environmental safety, and exposure to health risks. A school facility's safety measures and protocols, as well as its location, determine the risk of abuse of its students. These safety measures and location are determined by funding, as better funded schools should have more resources to invest in safety and it can be assumed that better funded schools are located in safer neighborhoods due to how public education in the United States is financed. Therefore, funding indirectly determines the risk of abuse for students. For example, if a school is located in a safe and secure location, students' risk of abuse may be lower, and thus parental fear may be lower. Parents that fear for their child's safety are less likely to keep sending their children, especially girls, to school (WHO, 2011). Therefore, if the risk of abuse and parental fear is lower, then the overall education of students, in terms of years of schooling, is likely to increase. More years of education are associated with more productive activity in the workplace which, in theory, should translate to greater incomes, creating economic stability that is associated with higher life expectancy, increased quality of life and decreased levels of stress (WHO, 2011). Higher levels of education are also associated with less dangerous occupations, and thus decreased risk of injury and

40

generally decrease risk of chronic disease³. The risk of abuse also impacts the risk of chronic disease and other health outcomes. If a student is abused, their chance of developing mental illness may be higher, they may have long term injuries from the abuse and that may lead to a decreased quality of life.

Also, within school facility and location is the safety of the environment. Older and poorly built buildings tend to have more safety issues than their counterparts. Initial funding when constructing new schools will therefore determine some degree of environmental safety. Factors like availability of resources, such as clean water and consistent electricity, play into the safety of the school environment. When these factors are met there is likely a decreased exposure to health risks and students may have an increased personal confidence and security which may decrease risk of abuse and risk of mental illness. This decreased exposure to health risk also impacts one's potential amount of education in terms of years. This can be explained through the mutually reinforcing nature of health and education. If students are healthy, they tend to be able to concentrate and learn more, and also miss less school. Unhealthy students have higher levels of absenteeism, when they are at school have more difficulty concentrating and learning and may eventually drop out of the education system because of this (WHO, 2011). Therefore, exposure to health risks may impact the years of education someone receives, thus following the same pathway described above leading to varying degrees of economic stability which may impact life expectancy, quality of life, stress, risk of injury, and risk of chronic disease.

³ Just because a job is less physically dangerous does not necessarily mean its risk of chronic disease is lower. High stress office occupations that would not typically be deemed dangerous may lead to heart disease, thus education level and risk of chronic disease is not exclusively a negative relationship

Looking at the school resources pathways, similar outcomes arise. School resources determine factors like teacher stress levels, child nutrition levels, and access to early health intervention tools such as free ear and eye exams. These factors are all directly or indirectly determined to some degree by school funding. Teachers who are already in demanding occupations may lack the proper resources and school environments if funding is low, adding to the already stressful profession of teaching. For example, if a school does not have the proper funding to hire enough teachers, class sizes will increase to compensate. Increased class sizes may lead to more instances of behavioral issues, higher amounts of preparation, increased grading loads for teachers and increase instances of minor illnesses spreading in classes. These factors may eventually lead to higher rates of staff burnout and turnover, negatively impacting teacher health and stress but also impacting the quality of education students receive. Lower quality and lower levels of education follow the same pathway described previously, ultimately leading to potentially worse health outcomes.

School funding also impacts child nutrition through the quality of school provided lunches and the ability to hire enough staff to ensure quality of food. If students are not receiving the proper nutrition their ability to concentrate and learn may be impacted, as well as their overall health, falling into the pathway impacting years of education yet again.

The final factor that is impacted by schools' resources is their ability to provide access to tools for early health screenings. School funding may determine whether or not schools are able to contract with health providers to implement early health screenings. If students do not have access to these their need for tools like glasses and hearing aids may not be recognized. If this need is not recognized students' abilities to concentrate and learn may be harmed and thus their quality and amount of education also may decrease – following the same path to worse health outcomes down the road.

Traditional vs Voucher Funding

These pathways have been adapted based on a traditionally funded education system, where federal, state, and local contributions fund schools and students attend those schools based on their location of residence. If students are given the choice to attend schools outside of their residence, and those schools have different amounts of funding, different pathways to health outcomes may be highlighted for those students. School vouchers are an example of how students and families may be given these options. Vouchers function as a tool that provides cash transfers or reimbursements to families to provide the opportunity for families to send their children to private schools. For example, a family may be reimbursed the tuition of the private school across town, so they have the choice to send their child to the neighborhood publicly funded school, or the private tuition charging school. If the family chooses to send their child to private school, how are the pathways to health outcomes affected?

Vouchers may provide students with access to safer and better funded schools, thus possibly lowering their risk of abuse, increasing environmental safety, decreasing exposure to health risks, providing better child nutrition and health interventions, and increasing the quality of teacher attention, school materials and resources. All of these factors may increase the child's potential years of education and may reduce their chance of chronic disease, increasing their likelihood of having more positive health outcomes.

43

While this may be the case, it is important to note that vouchers often only cover the cost of tuition or even only partial costs of tuition, therefore families may face safety and time costs associated with accessing the school depending on its location. These costs may counter some of the positive effects associated with attending private school, possibly negatively impacting their health outcomes later in life. For example, families may sacrifice some of their income to get their child to school, whether that be buying train or bus tickets or trading off between taking their child to school and working more hours. Because of this sacrifice nutrition in the home may suffer due to a decrease in income, setting the child up for increased risk of chronic disease. If the school is close enough to commute via walking or bike for example, the child still risks exposure to environmental and abuse risks depending on the length and physical environment of the commute.

It is also likely that vouchers may lead to a concentration of high achieving students in better funded schools. This can be explained because there may be a bias of who seek vouchers. Usually there is an application process associated with receiving vouchers, thus families that have the time and resources to navigate the process are more likely to seek out vouchers and end up in private schools. As a result of this, lower funded public schools may suffer as enrollments shift toward private schools, decreasing their already low funding if funding is connected so some degree on enrollment, and further highlighting the pathways to negative health outcomes for students still residing in these schools.

Along these lines, vouchers may lead to excessive school specialization as schools tailor themselves to meet individual tastes. For example, schools focused on sports and

art may sacrifice the central elements of education that justify government involvement. While regulations could be put in place to prevent this, they may turn out to be costly and undermine the purpose of a voucher system, that being choice and efficiency (Gruber, 2016). Following these examples certain pathways may be highlighted for students choosing to attend specialized schools. Schools specializing in athletics will likely push more funding into athletics which can be thought of as a school resource. While more funding may mean better equipment, training, and access to things like physical therapy, generally the risk of injury is higher for students attending an athletics focused school than a traditional academic school, strictly based on the fact that students are likely to play sports. While injury is a health outcome itself, treatment for some injuries may lead to negative effects on other outcomes, given contexts like the opioid crisis. Injured students may become dependent on these sorts of drugs, making them more susceptible to mental illness, drug abuse, and addiction, likely decreasing their quality of life (Ekhtiari et al., 2020). Because more years of education for mothers is associated with lower rates of infant mortality, schools like these may lead to increased levels of infant mortality down the line. Decreased years of education may also decrease life expectancy and quality of life, while increasing the risk of injury and chronic disease associated with dangerous occupations due to the association between both productive activity and economic stability and years of education.

Similarly, vouchers may increase school segregation in terms of race, income, and ability. This may be the result of the different actions of motivated and unmotivated or disinterested parents. Parents who are motivated or have the resources to use vouchers will likely enroll their children in high-quality private schools, while parents who are disinterested or not able to utilize vouchers for reasons other than eligibility would likely stick with the default education for their children, many times low quality public schools.

If the racial, income or ability make-up of children of motivated and able and unmotivated and unable differ, then segregation along those lines has the potential to worsen. While the argument can be made that vouchers may reduce segregation by providing access to private schools for minority students that may not otherwise been able to attend, vouchers still may divide the education system between high achieving and motivated students and lower motivation or lower ability students, illustrating that the case of vouchers and segregation is a complex relationship that may produce benefits and/or worsen costs (Gruber 2016). In context of our pathways, on an individual level vouchers may help students follow pathways to positive health outcomes, however if there are racial, economic, or ability differences between groups likely to use vouchers and those who are not, then voucher systems may steer certain groups toward the negative pathways that lead to bad health outcomes.

The Roles of Race, Gender, and Class

Understanding the roles that class, race and gender play within these pathways is extremely important. As discussed in the previous chapter, the education system in the United States favors some students over others. As a result of this differing impact, specific pathways are highlighted for different groups of students. This section discusses the pathways identified previously, paying special attention to why class, race, and gender matter within the context.

As presented in the previous chapter, class matters when it comes to education in the United States. Students whose families are wealthy may be more likely to graduate from college and translate their education into positive labor market outcomes. Given this, wealthy students are likely to go through more years of education than students of lower-class status. As we have established, more years of education are associated with greater degrees of productivity and therefore higher incomes; thus, the education system acts to maintain the class status of students that come from wealthy families. In addition to maintaining their class status, wealthy students then are less likely to be in jobs that are dangerous, in terms of injury or exposure to environmental hazard, therefore are less likely to develop chronic diseases later in life. On the other hand, poor students are less likely to receive a greater number of years of education, so the opposite may be true for them – lower incomes, higher risk of injury and chronic disease.

Vouchers in theory should minimize this gap between wealthy and poor students, providing poor students with the opportunity to attend private schools which should translate into attending and graduating college. One way that vouchers would actually close the gap between the two groups is if the student academic achievement increases significantly upon voucher recipients attending the private schools. Academic achievement gains may be associated with a higher likelihood of attending college, thus a possible increase in years of education. The question of if vouchers actually produce academic achievement gains is explored in a case study looking at the Cleveland Scholarship Program in the next chapter.

It is also important to consider how low-income families may still be priced out of attending private schools even in case of vouchers. This is because in practice vouchers usually only cover the cost of tuition, and often only a portion of the tuition. Families are left with the burden of whatever is left over, for example remaining tuition costs, costs of materials, and often costs of transportation (Greene, Howell & Peterson, 1997). In these cases, vouchers do not change the pathways for low-income students as they are unable to attend voucher accepting schools because of the financial burden associated even after receiving a voucher.

As demonstrated by Verstegen (2013) and O' Flaherty (2015), racial minority groups tend to get left behind in the United States education system. If the case from Nevada, where Verstegen displayed inequalities in terms of funding large and small school districts and the racial implications of such inequalities, mirrors the rest of the United States it is reasonable to say that students from racial minority groups are more likely to reside in urban areas and attend low-income schools. Following this, all pathways and outcomes identified would be negatively emphasized. In other words, based on the framework established and evidence of racial inequality within the United States public education system, racial minorities would be expected to have worse health outcomes, as a result of their education, than the white racial majority. Similar to the class discussion, voucher programs have the potential to eliminate or mitigate some of the pathways to negative outcomes, by providing racial minority groups with access to schools that are funded generously and therefore can provide better resources. However, there is no guarantee that the programs will have a strictly positive impact on the pathways to health outcomes. As discussed in the previous section, vouchers may increase school segregation or over specialize, impacting the education system in a way that may increase the negative impact of some pathways on racial minority groups, even if an individual from a minority group may benefit from the program. To this point, these pathways have been discussed from the lens of looking at their impact on individuals, this consideration of race emphasizes the importance of considering the impacts on groups, as well as individuals when considering the differences between traditionally funded education and voucher options.

One of the most compelling, evidence-based arguments for why Friedman's defense of vouchers helped and encouraged segregationists in his promotion of privatization of public education comes from Nancy MacLean (2021). She argues that "Friedman and his allies saw in the backlash to the desegregation decree an opportunity they could leverage to advance their goal of privatizing government services and resources. Whatever their personal beliefs about race and racism, they helped Jim Crow survive in America by providing ostensibly race-neutral arguments for tax subsidies to the private schools sought by white supremacists. Indeed, to achieve court-proof vouchers, leading defenders of segregation learned from the libertarians that the best strategy was to abandon overtly racist rationales and embrace both an anti-government stance and a positive rubric of liberty, competition, and market choice."

In the previous chapter, the discussion on gender sorting across public and private schools in United States illustrated that gender inequality in terms of where students of differing genders attend school, cannot fully be explained by random chance. The results of Long and Conger (2013) showed that male students are overrepresented in irregular public schools, and under-represented in private schools. If private schools are generally better funded than public schools, male students then would be negatively impacted to a greater degree by the identified pathways than female students. For example, say a male student and a female student with all else identical (family background, academic achievements etc.) attended different types of schools, the male student public, the female student private, in line with where they are represented more. The female student would, in theory, benefit from the private school through the same mechanisms traced in the class example, while for the male student outcomes would depend on other factors associated with their school in terms of location, facility, and resources. This illustrates that the education system in the United States may benefit certain groups over others however, the ultimate outcomes of inequality between where students of different genders go to school is dependent on factors like funding associated with those schools. This also displays the intersectionality of class, race, and gender, which raises difficulties in pinpointing exactly where inequalities in education stem from.

Understanding the intersection of health outcomes pathways and education finance while considering the roles class, race, and gender play works to deepen the understanding of how education finance gets under the skin. The following chapter will expand on these ideas bringing in empirical works related to cash and in-kind benefit distribution and a case study focusing on the Cleveland Scholarship Program, a voucher program launched in 1996.

Chapter 4: Empirical Research

Empirical Evidence: Literature Review of Cash vs In-Kind Benefits

Traditional welfare economics favor cash transfers over in-kind transfers based on prioritizing the preferences of potential beneficiaries and pointing to greater efficiency. There has long been a debate whether in-kind benefits are as efficient as cash or whether the motivation behind providing benefits in-kind is strictly paternalistic resulting in overprovision of benefits in-kind and therefore inefficiencies in the welfare system. Garfinkel (1973) argues that this favoring of cash benefits may be the result of only considering the preferences of beneficiaries and not including the preferences of taxpayers, who are ultimately funding welfare programs. By developing a model that includes both the preferences of potential beneficiaries and potential taxpayers, Garfinkel (1973) displays that the traditional case against benefits in-kind and also the established arguments in favor in-kind benefits are special cases that are subject to specific assumptions about preferences. Based on the model, Garfinkel concludes that in-kind benefits may be efficient, in general, depending on both beneficiary and taxpayer preferences and the distribution of income before the transfers take place. Specifically, traditional welfare economics assumes that taxpayer's utilities are independent from the beneficiary's utilities (ignoring taxpayer preferences all together). Garfinkel criticizes this assumption for being unproven and if it is the case that taxpayers prefer in-kind transfers,

then in-kind redistribution may be efficient. The case of taxpayers preferring in-kind transfers is supported by the work of Friedrichsen, König, & Lausen, 2020 examining the role that social status plays in voting in favor of the public provisions of private goods. Voting can be considered a tangible revealing of preferences. Friedrichsen, König, & Lausen (2020) find that as a result of concerns about maintain social status, richer individuals are more likely to vote in favor of public provision of private goods that they would purchase in the marketplace themselves in an attempt to maintain social exclusivity of such private goods. (Friedrichsen, König, & Lausen, 2020) Assuming that richer individuals pay more taxes⁴, this transforms Garfinkel's hypothetical idea of taxpayers preferring in-kind benefits to a possible reality. Ultimately, the balance between how much of the benefits are in-kind and are in cash depends on taxpayer preferences, beneficiary preferences, and the community's social welfare function (Garfinkel, 1973).

Keeping this theory in mind, consider the following thought experiment. Public education in the United States can be considered an in-kind transfer of benefits, providing free education to the children of the country. School vouchers on the other hand stand in as a proxy for cash transfers. They are a proxy because vouchers mirror more of a conditional cash transfer as they can only be used on school, rather than just a cash transfer where recipients can decide for themselves what to spend it on. In the context of Garfinkel's theory, in-kind transfers for schooling will be efficient if the taxpayer's and beneficiary's utilities are not independent. For example, if a taxpayer contributes to the

⁴ This is obviously a problematic assumption in general but should at least hold in the case of property taxes if richer individuals live in more expensive houses

welfare of society by paying property tax and therefore funding public schooling, they impact the utility of the beneficiary by increasing the funding available to the schools, providing a better education experience. Here the utilities of the two are decidedly not independent. The utility of the beneficiary also impacts the utility of the taxpayer, as educated population results in things like better democratic systems and lower crime rates. Therefore, if the taxpayer values these things, the two utility functions are again not independent. Through Garfinkel's lens, it seems as though for the case of education, inkind benefits are efficient transfers.

Focusing specifically on when in-kind transfers are efficient, Bruce & Waldman (1991) argue that government transfers made in-kind will be efficient if they are working to avoid the Samaritan Dilemma. The Samaritan Dilemma refers to the phenomena where giving altruistic aid may result in recipients becoming reliant or dependent on the aid if their actions can control the outcome of the aid they receive. Bruce & Waldman 1991 use the example of parent and child and allowance to simply explain the dilemma. It is assumed that the size of the allowance likely depends on how much money the child has at the time of the transfer, thus the child should spend more prior to the transfer if they want a bigger transfer. In welfare, if cash transfers function in this way, people will spend, rather than save, to receive larger transfers and fall victim to the Samaritan Dilemma. If transfers are made in kind, spending is restricted, and recipients have no control over the amount of their transfer (Bruce & Waldman 1991). Applying this to education, if education were funded in cash low-income families may fall victim to the dilemma, as they may choose to spend too little on educational services. This choice may be the result of sharing the benefits with future taxpayers rather than reaping all

53

benefits/returns themselves spending on something else. We would expect the benefits to be shared as quality of education for the poor likely determines the number of individuals who will grow up and found themselves on welfare or not. If parents, choose to spend the right amount in education services then we would expect less people relying on welfare in the future and therefore less burden on taxpayers. If education is provided in-kind and parents have no choice, this dilemma and inefficiency is avoided all together.

Understanding these theoretical perspectives aids in explain why certain goods, like education, are provided in-kind, rather than through cash transfers. While these analyses focus on efficiency, what this thesis is concerned with is the impact of different kinds of transfers on health outcomes, specifically the impact of in-kind and voucher (cash) transfers of K-12 schooling. To provide a general understanding of benefit transfers impact on health, the following literature review matrix is provided, serving as a tool to highlight the implications⁵ of different transfers on health outcomes.

⁵ See the last column of the matrix for my interpretation of the implications for health outcomes

Author/ Date	Benefit type	Research Question(s)/ Hypotheses	Methodology	Results	Conclusions	Support of Cash or In- kind	Implications For Health ⁶
(Miller & Neanidis, 2014)	Government Assistance, Cash transfers In-kind transfers	Do cash and in- kind transfers affect parental fertility choices and economic welfare differently?	Two-period overlapping generations model	Cash transfers lead to higher fertility and welfare of parents who value the quantity of their children. In kind transfers lead to lower fertility but higher economic growth and greater welfare for parents who value the quality of their children	Governments choice of cash or in-kind transfers should align with their goals in terms of fertility and economic outcomes	Mixed	Both transfers improve children's health status, In-kind increase likelihood of survival into adulthood
(Selsnick, 1996)	In-kind transfers of food, capital service, and consumer services to impoverished people	Are in-kind transfers as efficient as cash transfers for those who have the lowest consumption levels?	Microsimulation using consumption data from the Consumer Expenditure Survey	In-kind transfers have about the same impact as cash for all goods expect energy and consumer goods, in- kind transfers target those who need benefits more accurately than cash	In-kind benefits are as effective as cash for eliminating poverty	In-kind	Both transfers eliminate poverty, thus benefiting health. Cases that already use in-kind benefits should continue to do so
(Lusk & Weaver, 2017)	Food assistance, Cash transfers, In-kind transfers	Are the effects of cash and in-kind transfers different in a controlled laboratory environment?	Experiment	The effects of in-kind and cash transfers are the same for inframarginal consumers, for extramarginal consumers food expenditures are higher for in-kind	In-kind benefits are as effective as cash on food expenditure, and in certain cases are more effective	In-kind	In-kind transfers of food benefits provide greater access to expenditure on food, thus benefiting the health of in-kind

⁶ This column represents my interpretation of the implications for health outcomes of each article in reference to the pathways identified in Chapter 3

							users more than cash users
(McEwan & Carnoy, 2000)	Education, Vouchers (cash), public school (in- kind)	What are the relative effectiveness and efficiency of private voucher and public schools in Chile?	Multivariate linear regression to estimate the effect of private schools on achievement	Non-religious voucher schools are marginally less effective than public schools at producing academic achievement, public and Catholic schools produce about the same academic results	Public schools (in-kind benefits) are just as good, if not better than private voucher schools at producing academic achievement	Mixed	Health outcomes will be slightly worse or the same under voucher programs, not warranting large spread of voucher programs where there are already public schools
(Levin, 1999)	Education, Vouchers (cash), public school (in- kind)	What does the empirical evidence say about achievement between public and private schools, about educational equity, and costs of systems?	Literature Review	Private schools have only a small advantage over public schools if there is a difference at all, Catholic high school students are more likely to graduate, and attend and graduate college, Educational choice leads to greater segregation in terms of race and SES, Voucher programs are more costly than present school systems	Private schools are just as effective as public schools, if not a little better at producing academic achievement, School choice produces greater segregation thus the costs may outweigh the benefits of voucher schools even in religious cases	Mixed	Students who attend Catholic schools will have greater access to positive health outcome pathways, School choice hurts the health outcomes of racial minority and economically disadvantaged groups
(Gahvari, 1994)	General, cash grants and in- kind transfers	Do cash and in- kind transfers programs have different effects on labor supply?	Model	Labor supply will be higher under in-kind transfers if there is a high degree of Hicks substitutability between in-kind transfers and leisure, if there is an overprovision of in-	To warrant a higher labor supply, in-kind benefits must be over provided, and leisure must be normal, and there must be a weak separability of preferences between leisure and other goods	Mixed	Assuming that increasing the labor supply provides income to those who did not have it before, health outcomes should increase for this group, under the conditions specified

				kind transfers, and leisure is normal			in the results and conclusions
(McEwan, 2001)	Education, Vouchers (cash), public school (in- kind)	Are there differences between public and voucher participating schools in terms of Spanish and mathematics achievement in Chile?	Model, Linear regression analysis	Catholic schools have a slight advantage over public schools, non- religious voucher schools and public schools are largely the same	There is a lack of consistent differences between public and non-religious voucher schools in terms of achievement	Mixed	Students who attend Catholic schools will have greater access to positive health outcome pathways, Health outcomes between public and non-religious voucher schools will remain unimpacted

There are a few implications apparent from this summarized literature review that are worth highlighting. First, while the support of in-kind or cash benefits is often identified as mixed, that does not discredit the ability or effectiveness of in-kind benefits. Results were identified as mixed if articles conclude that in-kind benefits, more or less, were as effective as cash transfers. Often, studies showed that the impact of each benefit type was largely the same, often giving a slight advantage to in-kind benefits, although sometimes to cash. Second, the general implications for health outcomes show that health outcomes are the same or slightly better under in-kind transfers. Placing these studies into the context of the pathways to health outcomes bridges the gap between discussion of public finance and benefits transfers and discussion of health outcomes. If decisions about what kind of benefit to offer are being made under the assumption that all that matters is efficiency, like the neoclassical school would want, then these implications do not hold any weight in the decision. However, if a more comprehensive assessment is used that applies a social determinants of health perspective, these implications inform decision making to a greater degree.

A third implication that can be drawn from the literature review matrix deals specifically with the sources focusing on education. McEwan & Carnoy (2000) and McEwan (2001) both investigate the impact of voucher programs in Chile. For background, because of the influence of Milton Friedmans ideas about privatization of education, in the 1980 public schools were decentralized by Chile's military government, leading to most public and private schools to be financed by vouchers (McEwan & Carnoy, 2000). The results of the first study indirectly showed that health outcomes were slightly worse or the same under vouchers, because academic achievement was slightly lower or the same at voucher schools. This result does not warrant the spread of voucher programs if health outcomes are a consideration in the decision process. The second study indirectly shows that health outcomes do not change between private and public schools in Chile expect in the case of Catholic schools, where positive health outcome pathways would be highlighted because of the academic achievement advantage that these schools have. This result still does not warrant the spread of voucher programs as academic achievement and, therefore health outcomes, will not improve under such systems. For United States context, Levin (1999) looked at the literature about vouchers, focusing on the Milwaukee Experiment⁷. The results of this study also showed an advantage for those who attended Catholic schools, however the results stressed disadvantages for racial minority and low-income groups as segregation in terms of the two increased under school choice. These results show that the same groups that get left behind by the traditionally funded education system in the United States, only further suffer in the case of vouchers. Yes, it is true that an individual from either, or more likely both, of these groups may benefit from receiving a voucher and attending a private school, however when looking at the impact on the group, the structural impacts outweigh the positive individual outcome.

The interpretation of the impact of benefit type on health outcomes in the last column of the literature review matrix largely relies upon the main idea that gains in

⁷ The first voucher experiment in the United States where low-income families could receive publicly funded vouchers to attend nonsectarian private schools (Levin, 1999)

academic achievement produce better health outcomes. To grasp a deeper understanding of this, the following section investigates the Cleveland Scholarship Program, a voucher program in Cleveland Ohio to see if voucher programs produce more positive health outcomes than traditionally funded public schools.

Case Study: Cleveland Scholarship Program

The Cleveland Scholarship Program, implemented in 1996, is the second oldest publicly funded private school voucher program in the United States (Stewart & Moon, 2016). The program operates within the city of Cleveland, Ohio's metropolitan school district, Cleveland Municipal School District. For schools to participate in the program they must be non-public charter schools located within the district and approved by the state superintendent (Belfield, 2006). The purpose of the program is to increase educational opportunity for primarily low-income households by providing vouchers to purchase private education; however, student eligibility is only based on residence within the school district, with priority of available scholarships going to families below two hundred percent of the poverty line. Originally, the program provided families with incomes below two hundred percent of the poverty line with 90% of tuition and families above with 75% capped at \$2,500. The respective remaining 10% and 15% of tuition costs being the family's responsibility, as well as all other costs associated with attendance not captured by tuition (i.e., materials). At first, the program was only available to students in kindergarten through third grade, but by the 2006-2007 school year had expanded to all grades (Stewart & Moon, 2016). Voucher caps also expanded

since the beginning of the program providing a maximum of \$5500 for K-8 and \$7500 for high school for the 2021-2022 school year (Ohio Department of Education, 2022).

The Cleveland Scholarship Program provides the opportunity to investigate the impacts of voucher funded education on student outcomes. Since its implementation, the program has been the focus of many evaluations and academic works surrounding student achievement and other outcomes.

The first evaluation of the Cleveland Scholarship (Greene, Howell & Peterson, 1997) program was conducted in 1997, soon after the program launched. A parent survey and test score analyses were conducted for the purpose of evaluating important aspects of the program related to parents' decisions to apply, why parents choose not to participate in the program, school satisfaction, student retention and student academic outcomes.

The results of the survey found that the most common reason for parents' decision to apply to the program was to improve academic quality for their children, followed, in order, by a search for greater safety, better location, religion and friends.

The most common reason that parents 'chose' not to participate in the program was not a choice at all. Almost half of the parents who did not participate in the program reported that they were never offered a scholarship in the first place. The survey results indicate that from the parents' perspective this was the result of inadequate communication between the program and the applicants, while Greene, Howell & Peterson (1997) working with statements from Cleveland Scholarship Program officials stating that strong efforts were made to reach all applicants, provide the explanation that low-income families often rely on other people for telephone and mail services, pointing out that the survey team also struggled to make contact with many families. Furthermore, receiving the scholarship requires an income verification process, something that may not have been clear to families where contact was made. The remaining reasons that were found for families not participating in the program, roughly in most to least common order, were issues with transportation, financial reasons, offered admission at a desired public school, inability to secure admission to their desired private school.

The results relating to parental satisfaction show parents of recipients that were previously in public schools were significantly more satisfied with academic quality (66% compared to 30%), school safety (60% compared to 25%) and discipline (55% compared to 23%) than the non-recipients still in public schools. For the factors, private attention to the child, parent involvement, class size, and school facility satisfaction rates followed a similar pattern between recipients and non-recipients. The greatest difference between satisfaction rates (71% compared to 25%) resulted from the factor 'teaching moral values' where recipient parents were far more satisfied than non-recipient parents with children in public schools. The results of a regression analysis indicate that (1) recipients were far more satisfied with their school than non-recipients in public schools, (2) that parental satisfaction was particularly high in well-established private schools, (3) among recipients racial minorities were less satisfied than white parents, and (4) for nonrecipients higher incomes indicate higher satisfaction but among recipients no income effect is observed.

A general consensus exists that education is more effective if it is not disrupted. Changing schools mid-year is considered a disruption, thus school mobility can be looked at as an indicator for the effectiveness of the Cleveland Scholarship program. The survey found that only seven percent of all recipients reported not attending the same school for the full year. Of that seven percent the most common reason for switching schools was admission to a preferred private school, followed by being admitted to a preferred public school (possibly explained by Cleveland public schools allowing opportunity to attend magnet schools), moving during the course of the year, and transportation reasons.

Standardized test scores were analyzed for students attending the 'Hope schools,' schools formed in response to the Cleveland Scholarship Program. The Hope schools said they would accept all students who applied thus the school demographics reflected the most poor and disadvantaged students. Due to this, analysis of test scores says a lot about the effectiveness of the program as a whole as other schools participating in the program most likely function under better conditions. In other words, if scores at Hope schools are positive, other schools in the program should also produce positive results. The results show moderate test score gains in the subjects of reading and math and decline in language test scores (language tests were not normally given in Cleveland public schools). These scores were compared to scores from a similar voucher program in Milwaukee to be put into perspective. The results show that students' scores in the Hope schools outperformed those of comparable demographics in the Milwaukee school choice experiment. This comparison indicates a greater relative effectiveness of the Cleveland Scholarship program over similar voucher programs.

Overall Greene, Howell & Peterson (1997) find that their results support future school choice initiatives, however they express that, changes need to be made to ensure access to the program for low-income groups.

A 1999 report, (Lanese, 1999) summarizes the works of four studies from the Program on Education Policy and Governance report the American Federation of Teachers report, the Public Policy Forum report, and reports from Indiana University that generally investigated program implementation methods and participants, parental attitudes surrounding opportunity and the Cleveland Scholarship program as a whole, and achievement comparisons of recipients and non-recipient counterparts.

Lanese first investigates the Program on Education Policy and Governance report (PEPG) looking at parent satisfaction and academic achievement. The report showed that parents of recipients who previously attended public school were more satisfied with all aspects of their school choice than parents of applicants who did not revive a voucher and went to public schools. It also showed that choice schools, schools where vouchers were used, retained students at good rates. Determinants of parents' decision of to apply to the voucher program for students who previously attended public schools included academic quality, greater safety, location, religion, and friends. When comparing voucher recipients and non-recipients who remained in public schools, average family income was lower for voucher recipients. Voucher recipients were reached more easily and shared information more readily than non-recipients, indicating limitations and bias for the survey. Test scores in math and reading showed large gains for voucher students attending the two Hope schools. Based on the parent survey and test score findings the report provides strong support for the continuation of the program although this result needs to be taken with a critical view⁸.

The next report that Lanese examined was the report by the American Federation of Teachers that investigated the implementation of the first year of vouchers. The analysis in their report was meant to see if the intent of the law that created the Cleveland scholarship program was being achieved, funding a small number of low-income students at private schools. The report revealed that the program did not 'appreciably increase' educational choices available for parents of students who were enrolled in 'failing' public schools. The report also found that about half of students who were eligible for a voucher did not enroll in a private school. Of the students who did participate in the program, students who were already in private school and received a voucher received preferred placement compared to those coming from public schools where over half of those coming from other schools were placed in a newly formed school rather than a wellestablished one. The report also looked into the cost of the program, finding that it was mostly funded by state aid designated for Cleveland Public Schools, indicating that the public cost of the program was greater than believed. Another result related to cost found that 1.6 million dollars of taxpayer money was spend on vouchers for 496 students that already attended private school, while another 1.7 million was spent on vouchers for 525 students moving from public to private schools. The second group represents the students

⁸ As noted, before, the survey results are most likely biased, as those who interviewed were likely voucher recipients and therefore are likely to respond positively about their experience. There is a lack of transparency surrounding the version, form, and level of the standardized tests used as well as the scoring methods to assess academic achievement. The way the reported test score results were calculated raises concern and correcting this technical issue leads to results that indicate normal progress over the academic year rather than large gains.

who enrolled in the four new schools, meaning that taxpayer money was going to schools with no educational or financial track record. The final result Lanese highlighted was that in the well-established private schools, the public cost per voucher was much larger than the amount of money spent on new voucher students, meaning that money designated for the education of voucher students was not being spent on them. Overall, this report provides support for the argument that the program is not meeting its goal of providing access to private schooling for low-income groups.

Next, Lanese looked into the two-phase report by the Public Policy Forum⁹. The purpose of the first phase was to determine what factors mattered to parents when choosing a school for their child. Interviews revealed that the most common information parents wanted when deciding what school to choose was information surrounding schools curriculum and instruction, followed by information about the schools' teachers. Other information parents wanted, in order of preference, was school characteristics like class size and student body composition, general student outcomes like promotion rates, safety and discipline measures, standardized test scores, parent involvement and reputation. Teachers and administrators agreed that information regarding school's programs (curriculum and instruction) was the number one piece of information sought by parents. The final result of phase one of the report was that there is agreement across parents of private and public-school children in the information they want regrading school choice. The results of the second phase highlighted conclude that schools

⁹ Lanese notes that the structure of these reports provides a unique perspective when evaluating school choice. First, information used in the study came from both the Cleveland and Milwaukee school choice programs. Second, researchers used open ended, non-structured interview strategies, meaning that the resulting answers were not impacted by artificial dichotomies.
participating in choice programs should have publicly available their mission, philosophy, governing structure, school program (curriculum and instruction), teacher and administrator qualifications, standardized test scores, financial matters, and rates of attendance, graduation, and suspension. A public board of both private and public-school representatives should be responsible for gathering and report such information for public use. To enforce the program, schools participating should have one year probation period, where after if they do not comply, they will lose public funds to some degree. The results regrading school selection support the finding of the PEPG report to some degree.

Lastly Lanese examined the Indiana University reports. The year one IU report focuses on the impact of voucher participation and non-voucher participation on student achievement. Important results of the report include that voucher students who previously attended public school in Cleveland were slightly higher achieving before entering the program than those who remained in Cleveland Public Schools. The report found that within these groups there was no significant differences across categories of eligibility of free school lunches, gender, race, or parental living arrangement. After eight months in the program, while controlling for background and demographic factors, no statistically significant differences were found for adjusted third grade achievement between voucher recipients and their public-school counterparts. The implications of these results are that the program draws a group of students that largely reflects that of non-voucher participating public school student bodies. Finally, results showed that achievement did not significantly change one way or the other for voucher using students. The secondyear report by the IU team found that while those who returned to the program the next year and those who did not, did not vary significantly in terms of background and demographics, those who remained in the program achieved significantly higher scores in reading, science, and social studies than those who left the program after one year. It also found that unlike the first year, voucher participants and their public-school counter parts were remarkably similar in terms of gender, race, class, and previous achievement. The report also found that classroom environments between participants and non-participants varied greatly in terms of class size, teacher advanced trainings, and teacher experience. For all three categories, public schools held more desirable outcomes, smaller class sizes, more advanced trained teachers, and greater teacher experience. Voucher students performed significantly better in language achievement when controlling for demographic, classroom, and prior achievement factors, however there were no significant differences in reading, science, math, or social studies. Lanese notes that the second-year study reinforces the results of the first-year study, being that participants and non-participants share similar demographic backgrounds, but their school settings vary greatly. Despite this, achievement outcomes do not vary significantly expect in language with select groups.

Using the examination of these programs Lanese points to three general conclusions. The first being that it does not appear that voucher students have greater achievement gains than their public-school counterparts in general. The second is that satisfaction and selection reasons may explain each other, meaning that parents tend to be satisfied with their choice when they are provided a choice. Lastly, looking at both private and public schools, parents tend to look for other factors before achievement in

making their decisions. Overall, Lanese's analysis points to an unclear impact of voucher usage on student achievement.

Five years into the implementation of the program, the People for the American Way Foundation, a non-profit progressive advocacy group, conducted their own evaluation of the Cleveland Scholarship Program. Unlike the previous reports, this report aimed at discussing key questions parents, the public, and policy makers were asking at the time. The report analyzed if vouchers really do provide choice for poor students and the educational impact of the program.

When analyzing whether the Cleveland Scholarship Program realizes its goal of provide school choice to low-income students, Pathak et al (2001) points to the figure that in its first year, the program spent \$1.6 million in taxpayer funded money on the tuition of students that were already enrolled in private schools. That amount of money accounted for about one quarter of all of the taxpayer money dedicated to the program. Also highlighted is that between 1999 and 2000, forty percent of students that received vouchers were above the poverty line. Pathak et al. also pointed out that the ultimate choice with vouchers is held by the schools, as they are the ones who can decide to accept students or not. Parents simply can choose which schools they are interested in but ultimately schools hold the final decision. Voucher schools may exclude students due to special education status, behavioral issues, disabilities, academic performance, religious affiliation, or other factors, highlighting a key difference between public and private schools being that private schools are not required to educate every child, while public schools are, regardless of ability and needs.

69

Ultimately, Pathak et al. provides support that the impact of vouchers is rather insignificant in terms of educational advantages and highlights issues with access to private schools even in the case of vouchers.

As a follow up to the first two reports from Indiana University, summarized in Lanese (1999), the Indiana Center for Evaluation published the second annual report investigating the operation and impact of the program. This year of the report focused on the characteristics of students, teachers, and classrooms in the program and in public schools, and the academic achievement of students in the program. The findings of this evaluation found that when compared to the demographic make-up of public schools, there are a greater proportion of white scholarship students than African American scholarship students, but there are nearly twice the proportion of Hispanic and multiracial scholarship students compared to the public schools. This implies that African American students may be underrepresented in the program, while Hispanic and multiracial student may be overrepresented. However, it is important to remember that the programs' goal is to provide access to private schools for poorer families in Cleveland, thus representation in the program should show that economically disadvantaged groups should be the majority in the program. Further findings show that when compared to previous evaluations students in the program at this point of study were less likely to qualify for free lunch compared to their public-school peers, meaning that they were economically better off than those who remained in public schools. Assumptions about which racial groups are economically disadvantaged can also be made and if true, African American student representation in the program should be higher if the program intends to meet its

goal. The evaluation also found that while the rates of teachers being fully certified at both public and private schools are high, they are slightly higher at public schools. This indicates that students in the program may not always be better off than their publicschool counter parts in terms of ability and effectiveness of their teachers, raising concerns about whether or not these private schools are set up to produce greater academic outcomes. An interesting result found in this evaluation was that class size was positively related to achievement growth, meaning that students in larger classes were more likely to experience greater achievement growth. This relationship was the only teacher or classroom variable that explained a significant portion of student achievement; however, it was also a weak association. Keeping that in mind, private schools tended to have greater class sizes when compared to public schools. This should indicate higher academic achievement for students in private schools, however a further finding, that there were no significant and consistent differences between achievement for vouchers recipients and public-school students negates this prediction. The last finding of importance from this evaluation was that students who were in the program and left achieved at the lowest levels when compared to all other groups, emphasizing the importance of retention once in the program (Metcalf et al. 2002). This evaluation reinforces the finding that the program demonstrates little, if any, impact on academic achievement and raises concerns about if the program is actually impacting the target group of poor Cleveland families.

A 2006 report, "Vouchers and the Cleveland Scholarship Program: Little Progress so far" used the data set created by the Indiana University team to evaluate the impact of

71

voucher status on academic achievement. The report goes into detail about the impact of voucher use in specific subject areas but ultimately shows that any voucher effect is weak, if prior achievement is not controlled for the results do not favor voucher use. The results also showed that voucher using African American students appeared more disadvantaged. Ultimately, the results of the study showed that there is no clear advantage for voucher students and if anything, there may be a slight disadvantage, confirming the lack of impact of vouchers on achievement found in previous evaluations (Belfield, 2006).

In a response to widespread claims that voucher programs lead to greater segregation of schools in the United States, Greg Forster and the Milton and Rose D. Freidman foundation published a 2006 report that investigated segregation levels in both Cleveland Public Schools and the Cleveland Scholarship Program¹⁰. The results of the study showed that private schools participating in the Cleveland Scholarship Program were 18 percent less segregated than public schools in Cleveland, while nationally public

¹⁰ Before looking into data about segregation levels in Cleveland Schools, Forster first criticizes the measurement tools typically used for quantifying segregation in schools. The criticism rests on the idea that commonly used measurements typically only compare a school's level of segregation to the racial make-up of the school district, private school system, or municipality. Forster claims, this comparison ignores the contribution of the segregation of these greater units as causes for segregation of the school under investigation. Foster lists, the Index of Dissimilarity, the Index of Exposure, and The Gini Index, commonly used and widely accepted measurement tools in social science research, as common measures that fall victim to this issue. To avoid this issue, Forster says that comparison should be made to the racial composition of the larger metropolitan areas in which schools are located and uses this as the basis of the method for looking at segregation in Cleveland. Forster used census and education demographic data to find the percentage of white students in each school in the program and subtracted the percentage of percentage of white people in the metro area from each school percentage to produce a segregation measurement for each school. To present this data in an intuitive way each segregation percentage was multiplied by 100, this was so when talking about the data a unit of 10 meant that the school's percentage of white students varies from the metropolitan areas' percentage of white people by 10 percentage points. With this data Forster moved to linear regression to compare segregation between public and private schools, controlling for elementary or secondary school, and weighing data by school enrollment to avoid small schools from distorting the analysis. Similar analysis was conducted at the national level to give context for the Cleveland results.

schools were two percent less segregated than private schools (Foster 2006). The results of this report imply that the Cleveland Scholarship Program places students into less segregated schools, however the results need to be interpreted with the understanding that the measurement used for segregation is neither commonly use nor reviewed extensively by other researchers in the field at the time of this report, as it was not published in a peer-reviewed journal.

To assess whether or not the Cleveland Scholarship Program enrolls the targeted group, low-income families, a 2007 article published in Education and Urban Society analyzed demographic data from the Cleveland Municipal School District and the Cleveland Scholarship Program on race, family size, income, and previous school of enrollment for those who applied for vouchers. The cohort of data ranged from 1997 to 2001, looking at families who applied for vouchers each year. Results of the analysis found that the only significant difference between those that applied for the voucher program and the entire population eligible was for the 2000-2001 school year, where a lower percentage of students in the voucher cohort were minority compared to the percentage of minority students in the Cleveland Municipal School district. Or to summarize, applicants of the voucher program are relatively similar when considering minority status to the general population of public schools in Cleveland. The analysis also compared race, family size, and income and found that the student populations between the two groups are remarkably similar. The implications of this are that the application process does not appear to have bias toward who applies and who does not. The results also found that the initial awarding of vouchers does target low-income families, aligning

with the goal of the program, and that the racial and income make-ups of these families is roughly a mirror of the Cleveland public school population. Along with this, families who applied and did not receive a voucher were more likely to be higher income families, further highlighting that the organizational process of application and award follows the goals of the program. Despite this equality in opportunity, the data on the use of vouchers showed that those who were awarded a voucher and did not use it were more likely to be minority and low-income¹¹, displaying that the use of vouchers was less well distributed than the awarding of vouchers (Paul et al, 2007). This study supports any claims that the program does not fully meet its goal of providing poor families with private school education.

In 2008, an article looked specifically at differences in achievement of high ability or 'gifted' children between the Cleveland Scholarship Program and Cleveland Public Schools. After multivariate analysis of variance, results found that there was no significant difference for test performance between gifted students attending private schools using vouchers and gifted students in public schools (Plucker et al, 2008). The results of this study algin with the results of many of the previous studies, that use of vouchers does not produce higher academic achievement when compared to non-voucher using peers.

This review of the evaluations of the Cleveland Scholarship program illustrates that the program, designed to primarily help low-income students increased their

¹¹ Followers of neoclassical thought would argue that the families simply chose not to attend private schools, while a heterodox perspective would explain that the structure of funding for vouchers may have prevented parents for having a full choice, as the vouchers do not cover all costs.

educational opportunity, does not excel at meeting it's goal. While the voucher program does increase access for some families, issues with costs and program logistics have run rampant, preventing the program from thriving. Even for the students whose educational opportunity has increased, this review finds that the expected increases in academic achievement from attending private schools did not occur.

This review is extremely limited in what it can say about how efficient the program is. While conclusions can be drawn about how effective the program was is, in terms of meeting its initial goals, little can be said about if the program is effective in terms of cost. Pathak et al (2001) discussed taxpayer money being reallocated to students who were already enrolled in private schools previous to program participation, implying that the money that would have gone to public schools. Here the program likely cost taxpayers more money as they funded both private and public schools, rather than just public schools, illustrating a lack of economic efficiency as the program was not cost saving if this is the case.

Implications and Relation to Health Outcomes

This review of the evaluations of the Cleveland Scholarship program suggests little difference between voucher users and voucher non-users in terms of impact on academic achievement. Generally, the evaluations displayed no significant differences between the two groups in terms of academic achievement, therefore, when considering these evaluations in the context of the health pathways identified in the previous chapter, the health pathways that both groups follow are unlikely to have changed for better or for worse. This conclusion can be reached as 'years of education' has been identified as one of the main determinants of health outcomes in our pathway framework. Because academic achievement can be used as an indicator of continuing education, it is safe to assume that if there were major differences between the two groups across academic achievement, then one group would be more likely to receive more years of education than the other and therefore have better health outcomes than the other. This review has shown that this is not the case. While the program has shown mixed evidence on if the intended low-income groups are actually reaping the benefits of the program, the lack of achievement differences between the two indicates that even if the program is targeting users perfectly, it is not providing the means for these families to increase their social mobility through increasing education and therefore income and wealth. As a result, the evidence does not support that participation in the program provides users with a better chance of positive health outcomes, as the healthy segment of the population is the wealthy segment.

As shown throughout the review of evaluations, there is a substantial body of evidence illustrating the mismatch between the goal of the Cleveland Scholarship Program; to provide access to private schools for low-income families in Cleveland and the actual impact of the program. Greene, Howell, & Peterson (1997), Lanese (1999), Pathak et al. (2001), Metcalf et al. (2002), and Paul et al. (2007), all point to a variety of evidence supporting this statement. In the early years of the program issues with communication between the program and low-income families seems to be the blame for why target groups were not reached. A few years into the program, when it was more established, issues with access to using vouchers, whether for financial, logistical, or other reasons explained the mismatch between targeted group and actual voucher use. This implies that structural issues with implementation and organization of the program may have prevented access for targeted low-income groups. Considering this within the context of health pathways reveals that even if the program produced all the positive determinants of health, low-income families would not be able to benefit from the program and climb the social mobility ladder to more positive health outcomes. Understanding this, the conclusion can be drawn that voucher programs will only be relatively beneficial, in terms of health outcomes, if the programs target and provide full access to private schools that produce academic achievement gains to groups of the population that can use such gains to increase their social mobility in terms of income. Evidence from the review has shown that this is not the case for the Cleveland Scholarship Programs, and thus the voucher program is no better at producing positive health outcomes than traditionally funded public schools.

While academic achievement does not make the case for better health outcomes being associated with voucher schools, unobserved variables associated with parent satisfaction may support that case. The literature has shown that parents are much more likely to have higher satisfaction with private voucher schools than public schools. As addressed before this may be a choice bias, where parents say they are more satisfied because they made the choice to send their child to a private school and thus support their own decision. While this bias most likely exists, there still may be non-academic factors like safety, location, and facilities that parents are more satisfied with. As these factors are included in our health pathways, they will also impact health outcomes later in life. However, the literature does not discuss these factors, and thus definite conclusions about their impacts cannot be drawn.

When considered together, the literature surrounding cash and in-kind benefits and the Cleveland Scholarship program does not outwardly support voucher programs as a way to fund education in the United States that will improve health outcomes. Little difference is shown in terms of effectiveness between cash and in-kind benefits in general and the Cleveland Scholarship program confirms this when looking at academic achievement. If the literature favored cash over in-kind benefits, and major academic gains were shown under voucher schools, then support for expanding voucher programs, in the context of health outcomes would exist. This, however, is not the case, thus the spreading of voucher programs in the United States is not supported as a way to improve health outcomes.

Here it is important to acknowledge that this program evaluation is extremely narrow. Through the evaluation of the literature the only factors considered in determining program effectiveness and efficiency were changes in academic achievement and cost of the program. Due to the nature of the evaluation, only these observable factors could be used in this evaluation. Factors outside of the literature, such as family environments, social capital and cultural influences, are not considered in this evaluation, but clearly are important in the story of determining academic achievement. This displays how narrow this evaluation is and implies that the results should be considered carefully given that acknowledgement.

78

Conclusion

This thesis aims to demonstrate the connection between K-12 education finance and health outcomes in the United States. Education finance is critical in determining both quality and quantity of education (i.e., how much education students receive) and, in turn, indirectly affecting health outcomes much later in life.

This thesis compares both the mainstream and non-mainstream (or heterodox) approaches in economics to understand and conceptualize the nexus between financing education and health outcomes. The former envisions the nexus from an individualistic perspective in line with its well-known methodological individualist perspective. On the other hand, the latter does put the individual and individual's preferences in its social context with the help of the social determinants of health approach in the public health field. As a result, the thesis argues that the latter approach is more suitable to explain the nexus between financing education and health outcomes that involves a complex web of various factors at different times and levels in an individual's life rather than their preferences and choices based on hedonistic calculations as in mainstream approach in economics.

More specifically, the thesis compares in-kind (e.g., public school system) and cash (e.g., vouchers as a proxy) in financing education and their respective impacts on health outcomes in the U.S.A. through various pathways that are identified according to the social determinants of health approach. It is argued that voucher programs have the potential to change those pathways by providing certain groups with the opportunity to attend better quality schools. If vouchers provide access to better funded and higher quality schools that should produce gains in academic achievement, then health outcomes for groups who use vouchers should be better than if they do not use vouchers. However, an evaluation of benefits of voucher programs has shown that the private schools that groups are gaining access to do not produce significantly better academic gains, and therefore do not seem to have the capacity to realize the potential of improving health outcomes. In short, the results do not support the spread of voucher programs in the United States as a tool for improving health outcomes.

Policy Recommendations

Based on the findings of this analysis, a holistic approach to policy reform, outlined by Diderichsen et al. 2011, is recommended. This approach to policy reform involves looking at policy solutions at different entry points where various social factors at different levels determine one's health in distinct ways. Diderichsen et al. 2011 identifies four such entry points that when utilized ensure that the policy making recommendations include consideration of the link between social hierarchy and inequities in health outcomes. Policy entry point A serves as the starting point for policy reform by targeting the starting point of social stratification and aims to reduce the social stratification and its impact on health outcomes as much as possible. Accordingly, appropriate policy measures are usually defined at macroeconomic level such as progressive taxation policies, affirmative action, employment creation, access to education, etc. Policy entry points B and C consider what can done to decrease exposure to negative health factors and reduce vulnerability for more effective groups, respectively, by designing policies at meso-level (e.g., workplace safety, targeted smoking cessation campaigns, etc.). The last policy entry point D considers what can be done to prevent unequal consequences of ill health if and when the previous policy measures could not make a big difference in reducing social inequalities. Specifically, policies target access to and financing of medical care services based on "need" rather than "ability to pay" in line with horizontal and vertical equity criteria.

This frameworks for thinking about policy reform can be adapted to look at what can be done on a policy level to reduced inequalities in health outcomes that arise from the K-12 education system in the United States. Thinking about policy entry point A, any policy that decreases the unequal distribution of wealth and income in the United States can help reducing inequalities in health outcomes that arise from the K-12 education system in the United States. Education, even in the public case, is determined to some extent by income, as school funding is determined by property taxes, thus the wealthier you are, assuming you live in an equally wealthy neighborhood, the better funded education you will receive. Moving to policy entry points B and C, policy that ensures schools are located in areas that do not expose students to environmental hazards, that allow schools to provide before and after care for those who need it and, regulated and increase access to school nutrition programs can help to reduce the inequalities in health outcomes that arise. Finally, policies that align with entry point D include need-based financing and access to medical care services.

Limitations

There are a few limitations within this thesis. Primarily, it is difficult to draw definite conclusions because the connection between health outcomes and education finance is indirect and takes place through a complex web of pathways. The pathways that can be identified are rather general, limiting the degree of analysis possible at this stage. Another limitation is that this thesis does not use quantitative analysis to support its argument. Quantitative analysis was not used as a result of issues with availability of data, the lag between when one is in school and when health outcomes appear later in life that is almost impossible to trace due to mobility of people across states. A final limitation of this thesis is the lack of discussion about mental health throughout. While there is brief discussion, the importance of the consideration mental health within any conversation on health is not sufficiently displayed. Future research should focus on providing quantitative analysis to deepen the understanding of the connection while being sure to pay close attention to mental health as well as physical health.

Bibliography

- Arrow, Kenneth J. 1963 . "Uncertainty and The Welfare Economics of Medical Care ." *The Amercian Economic Review* 941-973 .
- Bainbridge, William L., and Thomas J. Lasley II. 2002. "DEMOGRAPHICS, DIVERSITY, AND K-12 ACCOUNTABILITY The Challenge of Closing the Achievement Gap." *Education and Urban Society* 422-437.
- Barrow, Lisa, and Cecilia Elena Rouse. 2008. "School vouchers: Recent findings and unanswered questions." *Economic Perspectives* (Economic Perspectives).
- Becker, Gary S. 1962. "Investment in Human Capital: A Theoretical Analysis." *Journal* of Political Economy 1-9.
- Belfield, Clive R. 2006. *Vouchers and the Cleveland Scholarship Program: Little Progress So Far.* Cleveland : the Research Department of the Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland.
- Benson, Charles S, and Kevin O'Halloran. 1987. "The Economic History of School Finance in the United States." *Journal of Education Finance* 495-515.
- Bentham, Jeremy. 1789. An Introduction to the Princples of Morals and Legislations. Oxford : W. Pickering.
- Biggs, Michael L., and Jayasri Dutta. 1999. "The distributional effects of education expenditures." *National Institute Economic Review* 68-77.
- Bruce, Neil, and Micheal Waldman. 1991. "Transfers in Kind: Why They Can be Efficient and Nonpaternalistic." *The American Economic Review* 1345-1351.
- CDC. 2016. *Different Types of Health Assessments*. October 21. Accessed August 31, 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/types_health_assessments.htm</u>.
- Cleveland Heights-University Heights City School District. 2022. Public School Funding Primer. <u>https://www.chuh.org/SchoolFundingPrimer.aspx</u>.
- Cleveland Metropolitain School District . 2017 . *Fast Facts about CMSD and Cleveland*. https://www.clevelandmetroschools.org/domain/24.
- CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT. 2018 . *FISCAL YEAR 2018-2019 BUDGET*. Cleveland : CLEVELAND METROPOLITAN SCHOOL DISTRICT.

- Cunha, Jesse M. 2014 . "Testing Paternalism: Cash versus In-Kind Transfers." American Economic Journal: Applied Economics 195-230.
- d'Arge, R. C., and E. K. Hunt. 1971. "Environemntal Pollution, Externalities, and Conventional Economic Wisdom: A Critique ." *Environmental Affairs* 266-286.
- Diderichsen, Finn, Timothy Evans, and Margaret Whitehead. 2001. "The Social Basis of Disparities in Health." In *Challenging Inequities in Health: From Ethics to Action*, by Finn Diderichsen, Timothy Evans, Margaret Whitehead, Abbas Bhuiya and Meg Wirth, 12-23. New York : Oxford University Press.
- Ed Choice . 2022. *Cleveland Scholarship Program* . <u>https://www.edchoice.org/school-choice/programs/ohio-cleveland-scholarship-program/</u>.
- Ekhtiari, Seper, Ibrahim Yusuf, Yosra AlMakadma, Austin Macdonald, Timothy Leroux, and Moin Khan. 2020. "Opioid Use in Athletes: A Systematic Review." *Organization Studies* 181-205.
- England W., Richard. 1985. "Public School Finance in the United States: Historical Trends and Contending Interpretations." *Review of Radical Political Economics* 129-155.
- Forester, Greg. 2006. Segregation Levels in Cleveland Public Schools and the Cleveland Voucher Program. Indianapolis; Columbus : Milton and Rose D. Friedman Foundation; The Buckeye Institute.
- Friedman, Milton. 1955. "The Role of Government in Education." *Economics and the Public Interest.*
- Friedrichsen, Jana, Tobias König, and Tobias Lausen. 2020. "SOCIAL STATUS CONCERNS AND THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF PUBLICLY PROVIDED PRIVATE GOODS." *The Economic Journal* 220-246.
- Gahvari, Firouz. 1994. "In-Kind transfers, cash grants, and labor supply ." *Journal of Public Economics* 495-504.
- Garfinkel, Irwin. 1973. "Is In-Kind Redistribution Efficient." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 320-330.
- Gase, Lauren N., Amelia R. Defosset, Maxim Gakh, Celia Harris, Susan R. Weisman, and Andrew L. Dannenberg. 2017. "Review of Education-Focused Health Impact Assessments Conducted in the United States." *Journal of School Health* 911-922.

- Gentilini, Ugo. 2015 . "Revisiting the "Cash versus Food" Debate: New Evidence for an Old Puzzle?" *Oxford University Press* 135-167.
- Greene, Jay P., Paul E. Peterson, and Jiangtao Du. 1999. "Effectivness of School Choice: The Milwaukee Experiment ." *Education and Urban Society*.
- Greene, Jay P., Wiliam G. Howell, and Paul E Peterson. 1997. *Lessons from the Cleveland Scholarship Program*. Washington DC: Asociationof Public Policy and Management.
- Grossman, Micheal. 1972. "On the Concept of Health Capital and the Demand for Health." *Journal of Political Economy* 223-255.
- Gruber, Jonathan. 2016. *Public Finance and Public Policy Fifth Edition*. New York: Worth Publishers .
- Henderson, James W. 2015. Health Economics and Policy. Boston : Cengage Learning.
- Hogson, Geoffrey M. 2008. "An institutional and evoluntionary perspective on health economics ." *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 235-256.
- Kemm, John, Jayne Parry, and Stephen Palmer. 2004. *Health Impact Assessments: Concepts, Theory, Techniquies, and Applications*. New York : Oxford University Press.
- Kober, Nancy. 2020. *History and Evolution of Public Education in the US*. Washington DC: Center on Education Policy .
- Lanese, James F. 1999. *A Review of Voucher Program Studies, 1998. Cleveland Public Schools.* Montreal: American Educational Research Association.
- Levin, Henry M. 1998. "Educational Vouchers: Effectiveness, Choice, and Costs." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management 373–392.
- Lleras-Muney, Adriana. 2005. " The Relationship Between Education and Adult Mortality in the United States." *Review of Economic Studies* 189-221.
- Long, Mark C., and Dylan Conger. 2013. "Gender Sorting across K–12 Schools in the United States." *American Journal of Education* 349-372.
- Lusk, Jayson L., and Amanda Weaver. 2017. "An experiment on cash and in-kind transfers with application to food assistance programs." *Food Policy* 186-192.

- Maclean, Nancy. 2021. "How Milton Friedman Exploited White Supremacy to Privatize Education." *Insitute for New Economic Thinking Working Paper Series No. 161.*
- McEwan, Patrick J. 2001. "The Effectiveness of Public, Catholic, and Non-Religious Private Schools in Chile's Voucher System." *Education Econmics* 103-128.
- McEwan, Patrick J., and Martin Carnoy. 2000. "The Effectiveness and Efficiency of Private Schools in Chile's Voucher System." *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 213-239.
- Metcalf, Kim K., Stephen D. West, Natalie Legan, Keli Paul, and WiliamJ. Bone. 2002. valuation of the Cleveland Scholarship and Tutoring Program, 198-201.SumaryReport [and] TechnicalReport. Bloomington: Indiana Center for Evaluation.
- Miller, Stephen M., and Kyriakos C. Neanidis. 2014. "Demographic transition and economic welfare: The role of in-cash and in-kind transfers." *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance* 84-92.
- National Research Council of the National Academies. 2011. *Improving Health in the United States: The Role of Health Impact Assessment*. Washignton DC: National Academy of Sciences.
- Neem, Johann N. 2017. *Democracy's Schools: The Rise of Public Education in America*. Balitmore: Johns Hopkins University Press,.
- O'Flaherty, Brendan. 2015 . *The Economics of Race in the United States* . Cambridge: Harvard University Press .
- Ohio Department of Education . 2022. *Cleveland Scholarship Program*. March 14. <u>https://education.ohio.gov/Topics/Other-Resources/Scholarships/Cleveland-Scholarship-Tutoring-Program</u>.
- O'Sullivan, Arthur. 2019 . Urban Economics . McGraw-Hill/Irwin .
- Pathack, Arohi, Dwight Holmes, Elliot Mincberg, and Ralph G. Neas. 2001. *Five Years and Counting: A Closer Look at the Cleveland Voucher Program.* Washington DC: People for the American Way.
- Paul, Kelli M., Natalie A Legan, and Kim K. Metcalf. 2007. "Differential Entry Into a Voucher Program A Longitudinal Examination of Families Who Apply to and Enroll in the Cleveland Scholarship and Tutoring Program." *Education and Urban Society* 223-243.

- Paul, Kelli, Natalie Legan, and Kim Metcalf. 2003. A Longitudinal Examination of the Demographic Charateristics of Applicants and Entrants to the Cleveland Scholarship and Tutoring Program. Chicago : The American Educational Research Association.
- Plucker, Jonathan A., Matthew C. Makel, John A. Hansen, and Patricia A. Muller. 2008. "Achievement Effects of the Cleveland Voucher Program on High Ability Elementary School Students." *Journal of School Chocie* 77-88.
- Reinhardt, Uwe E. 2001. " Can Efficiency in Health Care Be Left to the Market?" *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 967-992.
- Rumberger, Russell W. 2010. " Education and the reproduction of economic inequality in the United States: An empirical investigation ." *Economics of Education Review* 246-254.
- Santerre, Rexford E., and Stephen P. Neun. 2010. *Health Economics Theory, Insights, and Industry Studies*. Mason, OH: South-Werstern, Cengage Learning.
- Sekera, June. 2019. *Public Goods in Everyday Life*. A GDAE Teaching Module on Social and Environmental Issues in Economics, Medford : Global Development and Environemental Institute, Tufts University.
- Slesnick, Daniel T. 1996. "CONSUMPTION AND POVERTY: HOW EFFECTIVE ARE IN-KIND TRANSFERS?" *The Economic Journal* 1527-1545.
- Stewart, Molly S., and Jodi, S. Moon. 2016. Understanding How School Vouchers Are Funded: Summary of Funding for Ohio's Cleveland Scholarship and EdChoice Programs. Bloomington: Center for Evaluation and Education Policy.
- Strauss, Valerie. 2022. "Privatization of public education gaining ground, report says." *The Washignton Post*. April 18. Accessed April 26, 2022. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/04/18/privatization-of-public-education-gaining-ground/</u>.
- Thurow, Lester C. 1974. "Cash vs In-Kind Transfers ." *The American Economic Review* 190-195 .
- Ulbrich, Holley H. 2011. *Public Finanace in Theory and Practice*. New York : Routledge.

Varian, Hal R. 2014 . *Intermediate Mircoeconomics* . New York : W. W. Norton & Company

- Verstegen, D.A. 2013. "Leaving Equity Behind?: A quantitative Analysis of Fiscal Equity in Nevada'a Public Education System. ." *Journal of Education Finance* 132-149.
- WHO . 2011. "Education: shared interests in well-being and development ." *World Health Organization* 1-27.
- Woolf, Steven H. and Paula Braveman. 2011. "Where Health Disparities Begin: The Role Of Social And Economic Determinants—And Why Current Policies May Make Matters Worse." *HEALTH AFFAIRS 30* 1852-1859.